An Explora	tion of Indigen	ous Peoples' Pers	pectives of Phy	ysical Literacy
------------	-----------------	-------------------	-----------------	-----------------

By

Autumn Nesdoly

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Faculty of Kinesiology, Sport, and Recreation
University of Alberta

©Autumn Nesdoly, 2019

Abstract

Physical literacy is a key focus within physical education and sport policy and practice in Canada. Although physical literacy has been suggested to benefit the general population, the experiences of Indigenous peoples are noticeably absent in the physical literacy literature. To facilitate meaningful and inclusive sport policies and programs in Canada, it is necessary to develop a physical literacy evidence-base that is grounded in the voices of Indigenous peoples. The purpose of this research was to explore Indigenous peoples' perspectives of physical literacy. Two research questions were used to guide the research process: a) how do Indigenous coaches, educators, and youth mentors understand physical literacy?, and (b) what is the role of Indigenous coaches, educators, and youth mentors in facilitating physical literacy among Indigenous youth? Eleven Indigenous educators, coaches, and youth mentors served as collaborators in this community-based participatory research. One-on-one and sharing circle interviews were used to generate data. Collaborators' understandings of physical literacy, and their role in facilitating physical literacy among Indigenous youth, are represented by six themes: (a) wisdom sharing (b) being mindful in teachings, (c) youth-centered approaches, (d) active for life, (e) culture and spirituality as part of being active for life, and (f) relational support. Findings from this research contributes to a more in-depth understanding of physical literacy in the research literature, and how the concept is understood in practice. Importantly, findings from this research highlight practical suggestions for facilitating physical literacy amongst Indigenous youth that may support future physical education and sport initiatives that are inclusive of, and meaningful to, Indigenous youth.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Autumn Nesdoly. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, "An Exploration of the Cultural Relevance of Physical Literacy" Pro00082356, June 5, 2018.

Acknowledgments

To the collaborators in this research, thank you for sharing your perspectives so openly and honestly with me. I am truly grateful to have worked alongside such a wonderful group of people. Words do not seem to express the extent of my appreciation. You have inspired me in so many ways. Thank you.

To my supervisor, Dr. Tara-Leigh McHugh, thank you for your unwavering support and guidance throughout this process. You have been an exceptional mentor over the past two years. Thank you.

To my committee member, Dr. Doug Gleddie, your thoughtful comments and feedback have challenged me in ways that I truly appreciate. Thank you. To Dr. Janice Causgrove-Dunn, thank you for being a part of the examination process. I truly appreciate the care and thought that went into each of your questions and comments.

To my friends and family near and far, thank you for supporting me along this journey.

Kels, B, Tay, Jen – thank you for being you, always. Mom, Dad, Asia —thank you for being my biggest and loudest fans. Thank you for always being one phone call away. I love you forever, I love you for always.

Thank you to the University of Alberta Killam Research Fund for supporting this research.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Prologue	1
CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
Introduction	3
Physical Literacy Defined	4
Holistic Health Benefits	8
Measurement of Physical Literacy	9
Tension Between Measurement and Conceptual Understandings	11
Research with Indigenous Peoples	13
CHAPTER 2: METHODS	17
Researcher Position	17
Ethical Considerations	18
Research Approach	19
Collaborators	20
Data Generation.	21
Data Analysis	24
Rigour	25
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	27
Wisdom Sharing	27
Being Mindful in Teachings	30
Youth-Centered Approaches	34
Active for Life	36
Culture and Spirituality as Part of Being Active for Life	39
Relational Support	42
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	47
Limitations and Future Directions	55
Conclusion	57
References	59
APPENDIX A	68

Ethics Approval	
APPENDIX B	69
Consent Form	69
APPENDIX C	71
Interview Guide	71

Prologue

As I reflect on how my journey to this field of research has been shaped, I cannot help but think about all the strong role models I have had in my life thus far. It is the experiences, passion, and challenging questions that they have shared with me that has fueled my interest in research. This, coupled with my own positive experiences participating in sport and physical education, has guided me here.

Research. Perhaps if it was not for my grade one teacher and family friend, Colleen Politano, who helped me to find the joy of reading, I may have stopped appreciating stories long ago. Maybe, it was how my parents always answered my questions with another question that conditioned me to want to know more, to hear more, to read more. It could have even been how Dr. P.J. Naylor introduced me to qualitative research and how my now supervisor, Dr. Tara-Leigh McHugh introduced me to community-based participatory research (CBPR). I can still remember the 'ah-ha!' moment that I had when I initially read about CBPR.

Physical literacy. My interest in physical literacy came easily given the exposure I had to the concept during my undergraduate degree. Arguably, it could have even been how closely I found that my own reasoning behind being active in life approached the definition that I began to understand. Quite honestly, it could have even been my cross-training coach growing up, Dave, that inspired such a strong understanding of the importance of being active for life within me.

Working with Indigenous peoples, as a non-Indigenous researcher. My gut reaction to this question, which is often posed, is always: why not? Understandably, due to the historical context in Canada my intentions as a non-Indigenous researcher working with Indigenous peoples is questioned. However, it is difficult to pinpoint the exact reason, if it is even just one at all, that I began working with Indigenous peoples. What I can say is that I am immensely

grateful to have had the opportunity to be a part of such genuine, honest, and insightful conversations with the collaborators whom I have had the privilege of working with on this project.

Here... I have made it to this point in my journey in research through the variety of experiences that have been shared with me. Such experiences lead me to begin to question the concept of physical literacy and how it is understood, particularly how it is understood by Indigenous peoples. My interests have been informed by conversations that I have had with Tara, and my colleague Michael, about how physical literacy was expressed by Indigenous peoples that they worked with in the north. It is the further discussions that I had with the collaborators on this project that have led to the purpose behind this research: to explore Indigenous peoples' perspectives of physical literacy. Specifically, this research has been guided by two overarching research questions a) how do Indigenous coaches, educators, and youth mentors understand physical literacy?, and b) what is the role of Indigenous coaches, educators, and youth mentors in facilitating physical literacy among Indigenous youth?

CHAPTER 1: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction

Over recent years the concept of physical literacy has gained popularity within physical education, as well as in the research literature (Edwards, Bryant, Keegan, Morgan & Jones, 2017). Physical literacy is also a key focus within sport policy and practice settings in Canada (e.g., Canadian Sport Policy, 2012). With its gain in popularity, there has been a push towards assessment and utilization of physical literacy in practice, specifically in Canada (Dudley, Cairney, Wainwright, Kriellaars & Mitchell, 2017; Tremblay & Longmuir, 2017). Although physical literacy has been suggested to benefit the general population (Crane, Naylor, Cook & Temple, 2015; Dudley, 2015; Giblin, Collins & Button, 2014), the cultural relevance of physical literacy is not well understood (Lynch & Soukup, 2016; Whitehead, 2013). Researchers (e.g., Whitehead, 2013) have described how physical literacy may be understood and experienced differently depending on cultural contexts, yet there is a dearth of research that has explored this notion. Nevertheless, resources (e.g., Aboriginal Communities: Active for Life) have been released by the Sport for Life Society (2017) that claim that "Developing physical literacy is the gateway to a more active and healthy [Indigenous] community" (p. 9). Although this may indeed be the case, the experiences of Indigenous peoples are noticeably absent in the physical literacy literature. It is necessary to develop an evidence-base that is grounded in the voices of Indigenous peoples to ensure that such messages regarding physical literacy are research informed. Such research could facilitate the development of local, provincial, and national sport and educational policies, programs, and initiatives that are inclusive of, and meaningful to, Indigenous peoples.

Physical Literacy Defined

Although many researchers credit Margret Whitehead for the initial conceptualization of the concept of physical literacy, Cairney, Dudley, Kwan, Bulten, and Kriellaars (2019) suggest that the concept of physical literacy can be dated back to the 1800's. Since modern reconceptualization of physical literacy by Margret Whitehead, the specific definition has been continuously debated in the research literature. Whitehead (2001) conceptualized physical literacy as having the ability to "move with poise, economy, and confidence in a variety of physically challenging situations" (p. 131). She further described how motivation, confidence, and physical competence will contribute to an individual's self-efficacy in their active pursuits (Whitehead, 2013). Thus, individuals will take responsibility for maintaining purposeful participation in physical activity throughout their life course (Whitehead, 2001, 2007, 2013). In her conceptualization, a physically literate person will have the ability to anticipate an appropriate movement reaction in response to a variety of circumstances with their own creative expression (Whitehead, 2001, 2007, 2013). In other words, the actual movement pattern is not defined in terms of a sport specific skill, but instead as a response that exudes poise, economy, and confidence.

Whitehead (2013) further emphasized that physical literacy is a journey that has no defined destination (i.e., an outcome). As such, physical literacy is a dynamic process whereby individuals could face setbacks, which may lead them to adjust their involvement in physical activity in a variety of movement contexts (Whitehead, 2013). Whitehead (2013) argued that every person can be physically literate. However, she describes a person to have a lapse in physical literacy when they lack motivation to participate in physically active pursuits due to hindering factors such as a lack of physical competence, confidence, or value of physical activity (Whitehead, 2007, 2013). In other words, a physically illiterate person will avoid physical

activity participation based on their previous, negative, experiences with the motivational climate in physical activity settings. Overall, Whitehead's (2013) conceptualization of physical literacy relates to an individual's disposition to use the strengths of their own experiences to garner their unique, embodied, capabilities in movement situations and beyond, rather than focusing on physical literacy as a specific set of skills to be achieved by every individual. Whitehead (2013) suggested that physical literacy should not replace, but instead work in concert with, the concept of physical education. Specifically, Whitehead (2013) described how educators can guide, support, and facilitate a positive environment that enables individuals to experience movement to strengthen their physical literacy repertoire through physical education.

Aside from Whitehead's (2001, 2010, 2013) process-orientated conceptualization of physical literacy, other researchers (i.e., Coyne et al., 2019; Larouche, Lloyd, Knight & Tremblay, 2011; Tremblay & Lloyd, 2010) have described physical literacy more as an outcomeorientated concept. Such positioning is supported by skills-based literacy research and practice, which indicates that individuals are either literate or not (Mills, 2005). Within Whitehead's (2001, 2010, 2013) modernization of the concept, a discrete binary (i.e., physically literate or not) is not well supported. However, in some researchers' interpretation of the concept, a binary does exist (Edwards et al., 2017). For instance, Tremblay and Lloyd (2010) describe physical literacy as an explicit outcome of quality physical education that is taught by informed knowledge holders rather than facilitated through interactions with certain environments, as per Whitehead's (2013) suggestion. The required components, as outlined by Tremblay and Lloyd (2010), are focused on the understanding of the characteristics, attributes, behaviours, and knowledge necessary for conscious awareness of what constitutes a healthy, active, lifestyle. As operationalized by Tremblay and Lloyd (2010), physical literacy has four inter-related domains:

physical fitness (e.g., muscular strength, flexibility), motor behaviour (e.g., fundamental movement skills), physical activity behaviour (e.g., participation in daily physical activity), and psycho-socio-cognitive factors (e.g., attitudes, knowledge, feelings). Tremblay and Lloyd (2010) described physical literacy as the ability to read, and react to, various conditions with the corresponding fundamental movement skills. However, fundamental movement skills were not discussed in Whitehead's (2001, 2010, 2013) conceptualizations of the concept.

While various researchers have shared their interpretations of physical literacy, a consensus statement was established in 2015 and there has been general support in the literature for the International Physical literacy Association's (IPLA) definition (see Longmuir & Tremblay, 2016). IPLA (2015) defined physical literacy as the "motivation, confidence, physical competence, knowledge and understanding to value and take responsibility for engagement in physical activities for life." Even with the above consensus statement, there are still signs of disproportionate emphasis on the physical domain of physical literacy in policy, practice, and research settings (Edwards et al., 2017). As well, the role that culture may play in physical literacy is still unclear (Whitehead, 2013).

The physical competence component of physical literacy has received particular attention within the research literature. Physical competency is currently understood via the ability to perform fundamental movement skills (FMS; Tremblay & Lloyd, 2010). Such fundamental movement skills are categorized as locomotor, object manipulation, stability, and object-locomotor skills (Dudley et al., 2017; Tremblay & Lloyd, 2010). All together, each category is said to account for all types of movement necessary to be physically active for life (Dudley et al., 2017; Tremblay & Lloyd, 2010). However, instances of creative expression may not be captured within the current understanding of fundamental movement skills (Whitehead, 2013). In

addition, the types of fundamental movement skills assessed and explored in the literature are typically catered to able-bodied individuals, which directly impacts the inclusivity of the apparently holistic concept of physical literacy (Dudley, 2015). Strictly focusing on the physical component of physical literacy may narrow understandings of the concept, and such narrowing may not fully capture the broad understandings of physical literacy that individuals hold (Almond, 2013). Some researchers, such as Cale and Harris (2018), have suggested that merely having physical competency does not lead individuals to be active for life. The disproportionate focus on the physical domain does not support holistic understandings of the concept, nor account for why individuals who are physically competent routinely discontinue participation (e.g., burn out) in sport or physical activity (Cale & Harris, 2018). Although the concept of burn out in physical activity-related research is a very complex topic, it is conceivable that regardless of perceived physical competency there are other factors contributing to an individual's likelihood to continue their participation in activity. Therefore, the other components of the IPLA (2015) definition of physical literacy, specifically motivation, confidence, knowledge, and understanding, require attention in policy, research, and practice as well (Cale & Harris, 2018; Green, Roberts, Sheehan & Keegan, 2018; Edwards et al., 2017).

As previously mentioned, a consideration that may be overlooked within the concept of physical literacy is culture (Whitehead, 2013). It is well established that an individual's cultural background can play an integral role in shaping their understandings of concepts and activities (Krys et al., 2018; Zhang & Lauer, 2015). Difference in cultural norms can be seen when moving between geographically or socially created communities, and often local norms are shaped by greater cultural norms in which individuals are situated (Lewis, 2001). Specifically, when working with Indigenous youth, culture has been repeatedly emphasized as an important

component to their understandings of sport, physical activity, and recreation (Douglas & Halas, 2013; McHugh et al., 2018; Robinson, Barrett & Robinson, 2016). Therefore, it is important to consider the role of culture in Indigenous peoples' understandings of the concept of physical literacy.

Holistic Health Benefits

While the explicit benefits of physical literacy are not well-defined, the holistic benefits of physical literacy can be extrapolated from sport and physical activity-related literature. For example, it is well documented that physical activity is linked to positive physical and mental health outcomes (Buckley, Brough & Westaway, 2018; Chekroud et al., 2018). More specifically, an increase in moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) is associated with reduced instances of all-cause mortality in various groups of individuals (Young & Haskell, 2018). Indeed, physical activity-related research has tended to focus on the physical benefits of being active; however, compelling holistic benefits of physical activity have also been presented in the literature. For example, participating in physical activity through sport has been suggested to provide individuals with the opportunity to build their social capital, communities, and strengthen pre-existing relationships (Edwards, 2015; Nicholson & Hoye, 2008). Such social benefits of sport and physical activity have been suggested to positively influence the mental health of individuals who participate (Crocker, 2015).

Specific to the context of the current study, two recent systematic reviews have outlined various holistic benefits that Indigenous peoples can experience through participation in sport and physical activity. Specifically, Bruner et al. (2016) described how sport and physical activity can, among many other benefits, facilitate leadership skills, self-worth, physical health, and fitness. Similarly, McHugh et al. (2018) described the potential emotional, mental, physical, and

spiritual benefits that Indigenous youth can experience through their participation in sport and recreation. Physical activity, including sport and recreation, may contribute positively to overall wellbeing, and physical literacy may provide a means for participating in a physically active lifestyle (Whitehead, 2013). The holistic health benefits associated with physical activity have understandably fueled research that aims to bridge theoretical understanding of physical literacy and practice (Dudley et al., 2017).

Measurement of Physical Literacy

Within the Canadian context, measurement of physical literacy is sufficiently supported in the literature. There are several researchers, from Canadian institutions, that have discussed the reliability and validity of measurement tools for charting physical literacy of children and youth (e.g., Stearns, Wohlers, McHugh, Kuzik & Spence, 2019; Tremblay & Lloyd, 2010). Although the current study is not focused on the measure of physical literacy, it is important to discuss this area of physical literacy research to provide background information as to how the concept is articulated in Canada. This section also highlights the discrepancy in the representation of each component of the IPLA (2015) definition of physical literacy, whereby the measurement of physical literacy is often tied to the physical competence of children and youth (Edwards et al., 2017). Therefore, a brief overview of each measurement tool is discussed.

Three measures of physical literacy that are commonly used in Canada are Passport for Life (2013), PLAYtools (CS4L, 2014), and Canadian Assessment of Physical Literacy (CAPL) or more recently CAPL-2 (HALO, 2017). Passport for Life was developed by Physical and Health Education Canada; it is described as a formative assessment tool, that "supports the awareness, assessment, development and advancement of physical literacy among students and teachers" (PHE, 2013). Assessment is conducted through online questionnaires answered by

students, and teacher-administered "movement tasks" (PHE, 2013). The tool assesses physical literacy within four key components: active participation, living skills, fitness skills, and movement skills (PHE, 2013). However, the physical domain (i.e., physical competence) is favoured over any other aspect of physical literacy within this assessment tool (Edwards et al., 2017). This may be due in part to the fact that physical measurement is more feasible compared to subjective measures of motivation and confidence (Cale & Harris, 2018).

The Canadian Sport for Life (CS4L) society developed the Physical Literacy Assessment for Youth tools, or simply PLAYtools (CS4L, 2014). PLAYtools is described as an entire suite (i.e., PLAYbasic, PLAYcoach, PLAYfun, PLAYinventory, PLAYparent) of tools that can be used in various sport and physical activity settings to assess physical literacy (CS4L, 2014). Similar to Passport for Life, the suite of PLAYTools (CS4L, 2014) assess the physical aspects of physical literacy and pay explicit attention to the idea of sport-specific fundamental movement skills. The suite of tools are informed by the Long-term Athlete Development (LTAD) model, National Coaching Certification Program (NCCP, 2016), and Sport Canada (CS4L, 2014). CSL4 (2014) developed the LTAD model and are closely affiliated with the NCCP and Sport Canada. This is important to note, as it demonstrates the sport-centered design of the tool itself.

There is limited published physical literacy research that has utilized any of the PLAYtools; however, the PLAYfun and PLAYbasic of the PLAYtools suite were recently compared for variability and reliability with youth (i.e., 90% Indigenous youth) living in Northern Canada (see Stearns et al., 2019). Stearns et al. (2019) found that the motor competence aspect of physical literacy among youth in grades 4-7 living in Northern Canada is most accurately assessed using the complete PLAYfun tool. While there is limited published physical

literacy research that has utilized the PLAYtools, it is promising to see that Indigenous youth were the focus of such research.

The Healthy Active Living and Obesity (HALO) group (2017), created the Canadian Assessment of Physical Literacy (CAPL) and subsequently the CAPL-2. These tools assess the four main aspects of the IPLA (2015) physical literacy definition (i.e., physical competence, motivation, confidence, and knowledge and understanding) within a battery of testing strategies (HALO, 2017; Edwards et al., 2018). A score is given to each domain and the sum of all domains is an individual's physical literacy score (HALO, 2017). Recently, strides have been taken to strengthen the motivation and confidence assessment domains of the tool (Gunnell et al., 2018). Although motivation and confidence were assessed in the original CAPL, the revised questionnaire for the CAPL-2 better aligns with the definition of motivation and confidence that are associated with the IPLA (2015) definition of physical literacy. Indeed, this is an important step forward in beginning to adequately assess all components of the commonly used IPLA definition of physical literacy.

Tension Between Measurement and Conceptual Understandings

Edwards et al. (2018) described how there has been increased efforts to measure physical literacy by various research groups and organizations. As well, in their review they argue that practitioners who use assessment tools without first understanding their own position on physical literacy may unintentionally inhibit the meaningful facilitation of the concept in practice settings. Specifically, Edwards et al. (2018) argue that a person who approaches physical literacy through a pragmatic lens, views measurement as a critical component of developing physical literacy. Realists, however, acknowledge the holistic nature of the concept and suggest that measuring physical literacy would contradict their understanding that the affective, cognitive, and physical

domains of a person cannot be separated (Edwards et al., 2018). Physical literacy initiatives have been developed without in-depth consideration of congruence between the developer's position on the topic (i.e., realist versus pragmatist) and program or strategy (Edwards et al., 2018; Robinson, Randall & Barrett, 2018). Robinson et al. (2018) conducted a qualitative study with 12 physical education teachers from four provinces. Findings from their research suggest that while such leaders were able to identify the holistic aspects of physical literacy, they more readily discussed the physical components compared to the affective (i.e., motivation and confidence), and cognitive (i.e., knowledge and understanding) components. The researchers suggested that the participants' understandings of physical literacy may be shaped by the available resources that primarily focus on the physical aspects of the concept. Thus, their conceptualizations did not necessarily align with the holistic nature of physical literacy that is described in the literature and within the IPLA (2015) definition of the concept (Robinson et al., 2018). As such, many practitioners and educators have become confused on how the concept should be facilitated in practice (Edwards et al., 2019; Green et al., 2018; Robinson et al., 2018).

Physical educators are currently tasked across Canada to facilitate physical literacy as a major component of their curriculum (PHE, 2009). However, this is dependent on each province's Ministry of Education, as each Ministry is responsible for designing curriculum that aligns with provincial resources, needs, and policies (Kilborn, Larusso & Francis, 2016). Each Territory follows the provincial curriculum that they are nearest to; for instance, the Northwest Territories follows Alberta's curricula (Kilborn et al., 2016). According to PHE Canada (2009) "many provincial [Physical Education] curricula (i.e., British Columbia, Saskatchewan, Ontario, Newfoundland and Labrador) currently stress that students should become physically literate as a result of achieving grade specific standards, expectations, or outcomes"(p. 9). In Alberta

specifically, physical literacy is not highlighted as a component of the Alberta curriculum and the ways in which physical literacy is facilitated in Alberta is not standardized. However, many educators may be aware of the concept through their undergraduate education, coaching affiliation, or other personal experiences. In addition, schools in Alberta that utilize Ever Active Schools for comprehensive school health programming and initiatives may also be aware of physical literacy, as Ever Active Schools supports the concept (Ever Active Schools, 2019). There are several other organizations working with schools (e.g., Boks by Reboks Canada) in Alberta that emphasize the concept as well. Therefore, as educators working within Alberta schools it may be difficult to navigate the inter-workings of the concept, especially when the concept is not clearly outlined in the curriculum.

Research with Indigenous Peoples

While new published research continues to emerge in the physical literacy literature there is a clear lack of research pertaining to educators, coaches, and programmers understanding of physical literacy. In addition, there is an even greater lack of research exploring Indigenous peoples' understanding of the concept. The lack of research that explores Indigenous peoples' understanding of the concept is particularly problematic when considering the recent release of the Truth Reconciliation Commission's (TRC, 2015) testimony from survivors of residential schools. The TRC (2015) outlined 94 Calls to Action in an effort to address the legacy of residential schools and to support a process of reconciliation in Canada. Relevant to this specific research are the Calls to Action focused on *Education for Reconciliation* and *Sports and Reconciliation*. For instance, Call to Action #90 highlights the importance of ensuring that national sport policies, programs, and initiatives are inclusive of Indigenous peoples. As well, Call to Action #63 outlines the critical need to "buil[d] student capacity for intercultural

understanding, empathy, and mutual respect" (p. 7). An exploration into Indigenous peoples' meanings and experiences of physical literacy is necessary to support such Calls to Action and efforts for inclusive and culturally relevant pedagogy in physical education and sport settings.

In Alberta, the provincial Teaching Association (ATA, 2013) described their commitment to ensure that the learning outcomes of current and future curriculum are relevant to the perspectives and experiences of Indigenous students in Alberta. Researchers (e.g., Douglas & Halas, 2013) suggest that activities within a physical education setting that are culturally meaningful and relevant to Indigenous peoples aid in affirming cultural identities of Indigenous students. Robinson, Barrett, and Robinson (2016) explored the cultural relevancy of physical education pedagogy for Mi'kmaw peoples. Participants involved in this research suggested that there were missed opportunities for sports to be taught as cultural activities (Robinson et al., 2016). For example, they shared that the sport of hockey evolved from a game that the Mi'kmaq people traditionally played, and they expressed how incorporating this into physical education pedagogy could provide an opportunity for Indigenous youth to engage in culturally relevant physical education (Robinson et al., 2016). Findings from Robinson et al. (2016) highlight the importance of exploring Indigenous peoples' meanings and experiences of physical literacy. Specifically, such an exploration may provide the necessary knowledge for engaging Indigenous youth in culturally relevant physical education.

In consideration of Indigenous peoples, Sport for Life has developed resources for coaches, educators, and community members that state the important role of physical literacy in the lives of Indigenous peoples (e.g., *Aboriginal Communities: Active for Life [Sport for Life, 2017]*). According to Sport for Life (2017), "promoting physical literacy in our [Indigenous] communities is one of the keys to solving our inactivity problem" (p. 9). However, there is a lack

of a strong evidence-base to support this claim as the research cited in making this claim was based on broad physical activity and physical literacy research that was not grounded in the experiences of Indigenous peoples. It is necessary to engage in physical literacy research with Indigenous peoples to support the development of future policy and programming in sport and educational settings. More specifically, Forsyth (2014) argued that to develop inclusive, meaningful, and accessible sport and physical activity programming there is a need for a strong evidence-base that is grounded in the experiences of Indigenous peoples.

While there is limited research with Indigenous peoples that has specifically focused on physical literacy, Indigenous participants in a recent study focused on traditional games described how participation in traditional games can contribute to physical literacy (Dubnewick, Hopper, Spence & McHugh, 2018). However, the researchers found tension in using the term physical literacy, as the participants discussion was primarily focused on the physical movement skill that can be learned through participating in traditional games. Throughout the discussions, however, participants alluded to the important role of culture and traditional ways of knowing that are important considerations for facilitating physical literacy (Dubnewick et al., 2018). The important role of culture and traditional ways of knowing that were expressed in this research with Indigenous peoples are not as readily represented in the IPLA's (2015) definition of physical literacy. As such, the findings by Dubnewick et al. highlight the importance of considering Indigenous peoples' perspectives on physical literacy.

Aside from the research by Stearns et al. (2019), few physical literacy studies have included Indigenous peoples. Indigenous peoples have, however, been the focus of various sport, physical activity, and recreation studies conducted in Canada. Two recent reviews by Bruner et al. (2016) and McHugh et al. (2018) summarized much of the sport and physical activity

research that has been conducted with Indigenous youth in Canada, and both studies highlight the critical need to consider the central role of culture in such activities. The combined findings from Bruner et al. (2016) and McHugh et al. (2018) also suggest that sport and physical activity can provide valuable opportunities for transmitting and sharing Indigenous traditions and cultures. Considering the central role that culture plays in the sport and physical activity experiences of Indigenous people, there is a clear need to explore how culture may shape Indigenous peoples' understandings and experiences of physical literacy.

To date, I am unaware of any published research that has explored Indigenous peoples' understandings of physical literacy. It is necessary to develop a physical literacy evidence-base that is grounded in the voices of Indigenous peoples to address this clear gap in the literature. Historically, it has been demonstrated that ignoring colonized processes in sport, education, and the broader society leads to harmful consequences that could have been mitigated (Paraschak, 2013). Thus, the purpose of this research was to explore Indigenous peoples' perspectives of physical literacy. The overarching questions that guided this research process were: (a) how do Indigenous coaches, educators, and youth mentors understand physical literacy?, and (b) what is the role of Indigenous coaches, educators, and youth mentors in facilitating physical literacy among Indigenous youth?

CHAPTER 2: METHODS

Researcher Position

As a non-Indigenous researcher working in collaboration with Indigenous peoples, it was important that I continuously reflected on my privilege in society to strengthen the foundation for respectful relationships throughout this research process. Reflection is not a passive activity (Mann, Gordon & MacLeod, 2009); therefore, I continuously reflected on my own position within this research. Since the past has negatively shaped Indigenous peoples' perceptions of research (Schinke, Smith & McGannon, 2013), it was important that I was cognisant of the power that I inherently hold as an academic researcher and acted to diffuse this given privilege of power. Due to the nature of the research purpose, it was important for me to remain reflexive about how my positive physical activity, physical education, and sport experiences have shaped the value I place on active pursuits as this may not be the case for all individuals that collaborated on this project. It should be noted that, in terms of physical literacy, I consider myself a realist as described by Edwards and colleagues (2018). Thus, it was important that I was precautious in my approach to this research phrasing to ensure that I was not asserting this assumption onto the collaborators of this project nor channelling my assumptions into their described interpretations of the concept.

It is critical to acknowledge that there are historical underpinnings that have shaped current best practices in research with Indigenous peoples (Bull, 2010). Throughout history, Indigenous peoples have been mistreated, misrepresented, and/or exploited by the research process (Schinke et al., 2013). As such, research within Indigenous communities has invoked a sense of mistrust, which has led communities to be apprehensive about research involving their community (Bull, 2010). The mistrust that is felt by many Indigenous peoples is bolstered by the

unethical research practices that were commonly used in the past (Bull, 2010). Therefore, I placed significant emphasis onto meaningfully collaborating and critically reflecting throughout this research project to support my efforts to maintain a respectful research process.

Ethical Considerations

This research was approved by the Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta (see Appendix A). The suggestions in Chapter 9: Research Involving the First Nations, Inuit and Métis Peoples of Canada in the second edition of the Tri-Council Policy Statement (TCPS-2, 2014) were used as a guide to support an ethical research process. As per these suggestions, the three core principles (i.e., Respect for Persons, Justice, Concern for Welfare) within Chapter 9 of the TCPS-2 (2014) were followed. In terms of *Respect for Persons*, receiving and maintaining continuously free and informed consent from all participants (TCPS-2, 2014), was a priority within this study. As part of the prescribed western process for receiving informed consent, such documents were signed by all collaborators involved in this study (see Appendix B). The individuals involved in this study approached the research with an expectation of signing consent forms, as a result of their previous experiences with such research processes. In addition, the collaborators and I had ongoing conversations regarding the research process to maintain informed consent throughout the project.

According to the TCPS-2 (2014), *Justice* relates to mitigating the power imbalances between researcher and participant regardless of whether this discrepancy is real or perceived. Considering my position as a non-Indigenous researcher, it was important for me to continuously reflect on my own assumptions to actively disrupt the discrepancy in power that was passively created through my inherited position in society. As part of my commitment to actively disrupting my position of power, I engaged in reflexive conversations with colleagues, family

members, and friends to attempt to challenge deeply rooted assumptions that may have gone unnoticed. Although, at times, these conversations had nothing to do with physical literacy, sport, or research, they helped me to understand my own positionality better.

When working with Indigenous peoples in research, it is important that there is concern for a collective well-being and capacity for individuals to maintain their culture, language, and identity (TCPS-2, 2014). *Concern for Welfare* of the collaborators was acknowledged, in part, through the above processes of maintaining continuous informed consent and actively attempting to mitigate power imbalances.

Research Approach

I approached this research with a participatory worldview that favoured tenets of community-based participatory research (CBPR) methods. Participatory approaches, such as CBPR, emerged as a deliberate form of resistance to traditional research practices (Cargo & Mercer, 2008). Although CBPR may be considered a Western approach to research, as it has largely been developed by Western scholars (Bull, 2010), the overarching goal of CBPR is to create positive social change by involving participants as researchers (Cargo & Mercer, 2008). CBPR is guided by a number of principles, including: researching areas that are of concern to community, seeing multiple ways of knowing as a positive, developing community capacity, working to maintain an equitable partnership, and respecting the cultural practices of community (Cargo & Mercer, 2008; D'Alonzo, 2010; Fletcher, 2003). When working with Indigenous peoples, CBPR offers a promising avenue for open dialogue between local partners and the academy (Fletcher, 2003). Bull (2010) explained how the collaborative processes that are inherent in CBPR help to mitigate the power structure that is apparent in traditional research practices within academia (i.e., positivist approaches). Further, the flexible nature of

collaboration within a CBPR approach supports endeavors to work with Indigenous peoples in research practice (Fletcher, 2003). As well, ethical guidelines (e.g., TCPS-2) have indicated that Indigenous peoples should be provided with opportunities to engage in research as equal partners. Therefore, the group of people that were involved in this project were engaged as collaborators. In keeping with the emergent nature of CBPR, the research project, as it was initially conceptualized, was subject to change as the project progressed.

Collaborators

A total of eleven Indigenous peoples (10 women, 1 man) actively participated in this study as collaborators. All collaborators lived and worked in Alberta, and self-identified as Indigenous. Within this research, Indigenous refers to a person that is First Nations, Inuit, or Métis (as per Indigenous Foundations, 2009). All collaborators identified as either an Indigenous educator, coach, youth mentor, or a combination of the three. For the purpose of this study, educators were described as people who currently work, or had worked, within the school system teaching youth, or more specifically Indigenous youth. Educators in this study did not necessarily hold traditional teaching positions but instead included graduation coaches, school liaisons, and physical literacy coordinators. Coaches were described as people who worked with Indigenous youth in a coaching capacity within a school or extracurricular sport setting. A youth mentor was described as someone who worked with youth outside of the education system. For example, this could be working as a big brother/sister in the Big Brother, Big Sister program; working as a youth mentor or coordinator for a not-for profit organization; or volunteering time to mentor youth some capacity. In all cases, the mentors within this study were involved in some type of sport or activity with youth. The knowledge held by the collaborators was shaped by the

experiences that they had as Indigenous educators, coaches, and youth mentors working with Indigenous youth. Such knowledge was integral to exploring the study purpose and questions.

All collaborators were purposefully selected through a known sponsor approach through my social networks or those of my graduate supervisor (Dr. Tara-Leigh McHugh), who has developed strong relationships with Indigenous community partners in Edmonton because of her research over the past 10 years. A known sponsor, as defined by Patton (2002), is someone who has a legitimate relationship with the group of interest. The known sponsors for this research project were two Indigenous school liaison coordinators who work within a school system in Alberta. The known sponsors were asked to identify Indigenous collaborators whom they felt could provide in-depth insights into the concept of physical literacy. All collaborators worked with youth within physical activity settings in some capacity. Although not every collaborator knew what physical literacy was prior to commencing this project, all collaborators had a general understanding of what it might mean, and more importantly, what it means to them. Throughout all modes of presentation of the findings from this study, pseudonyms replaced the names of the collaborators to protect their anonymity in this project. The collaborators that participated in this project were provided the opportunity to choose their own pseudonym.

Data Generation

The collaborators on this research project were provided the opportunity to participate in either a one-on-one or sharing circle interview. Interviews are typically used in qualitative research as means to generate data (Kowalski, McHugh, Sabiston & Ferguson, 2018; Kvale, 2008). The relational nature of interviews aligns with the CBPR approach of this study. Specifically, as Kowalski et al. (2018) suggested, interviews offer an opportunity for interviewees and interviewers to work together to generate data, particularly when the interviews

are semi-structured. Interviews also support interviewees to openly discuss their experiences related to the topic in question. Both one-on-one and sharing circle interviews were used in this study.

Of the eleven collaborators, seven chose to participate in a sharing circle, and four chose to participate in a one-on-one interview. The choice between the two interview types (i.e., sharing circle or one-on-one) was provided as many individuals involved indicated that the flexibility in interview type gave them more opportunity to be involved in the research project. All interviews were conducted in places that were convenient to the collaborators, and then audio-recorded and transcribed.

Interviews are often used in sport and physical activity research seeking to better understand the experiences of Indigenous peoples (McHugh et al., 2018). Mason and Koehli (2012) described how one-on-one interviews provide opportunities to explore personal experiences of Indigenous peoples in a private setting. More importantly, the use of one-on-one interviews may aid in strengthening the relationship between the researcher and the individuals involved (Mason & Koehli, 2012). Sharing circles have been described as a relevant process for generating knowledge among Indigenous peoples in a group setting (Lavallee, 2009). The specific cultural principles that guide sharing circle discussions allow for equal power balance between facilitator and group members (Lavallee, 2009).

Similar to previous physical activity-related research with Indigenous peoples (e.g., McHugh, Coppola & Sinclair, 2013), the interviews were semi-structured in nature. Open-ended questions, probes, and support questions were developed based on the physical literacy and Indigenous sport literature, as well as feedback provided by the supervisory committee and collaborators (see Appendix C for the interview guide). The process typically described in CBPR

literature is to consult key members of the community prior to beginning interviews (Horowitz, Robinson & Seifer, 2009). In addition to consulting with the known sponsors prior to the interviews, the known sponsors also participated and helped facilitate the sharing circle. The sharing circle and one-on-one interviews were formatted to provide opportunities for collaborators to give additional feedback about the proposed interview guide including how it could be improved, and if there was anything they thought should be added or deleted. Based on the sharing circle interview, it was evident that the collaborators emphasized their role in *facilitating* physical literacy among Indigenous youth more than focusing on their own meanings and experiences of the concept. Thus, through the collaborator's consultation and support from the supervisory committee, the research questions were slightly modified for the following one-on-one interviews.

The seven members of the sharing circle knew and were very familiar with each other, as they all worked within the same school division. Interviewing intact groups such as this is common in CBPR research, especially when a project is based in a geographically located community (Horowitz et al., 2009; Wallerstein, Duran, Oetzel & Minkler, 2017). The strengths of interviewing intact groups is that the group may feel comfortable speaking with each other, as they are familiar with one another (Bloor, Frankland, Thomas & Robson, 2001; Hofmeyer & Scott, 2007). This was evident in this specific project, as the group often laughed and made jokes throughout the interview. The comfort that was apparent in the sharing circle supported a dynamic discussion (Bloor et al., 2001; Hofmeyer & Scott, 2007). At times in the interview the group did not agree with each other, but once each perspective was understood a common understanding was achieved. For example, the group was undecided on which was the most important component of physical literacy; however, after much conversation, the group

acknowledged that all aspects together (i.e., confidence, motivation, physical competence, knowledge and understanding) made physical literacy an all-encompassing term.

Not all individuals were able to meet in person for a one-on-one or sharing circle interview, as their jobs required them to travel throughout the province and the rest of the country. For this reason, two one-on-one interviews were conducted over the telephone. Phone interviews are increasingly being used in research (Irvine, 2011). Researchers (e.g., Irvine, Drew & Sainsbury, 2013; Knox & Burkard, 2009) suggest that phone interviews offer ample opportunity for participants to share their experiences. Sturges and Hanrahan (2004) suggest that when compared to face-to-face interviews, over the phone interviews generated similar results. However, there are some researchers that disagree with the ability of the phone interview to provide in-depth insights into the questions posed (see Gillham, 2005). Due to the pre-existing relationships I had with the two collaborators that were interviewed over the phone, I believe that the data generated likely facilitated a depth and richness that would be comparable to face-to-face interviews.

Data Analysis

A process of content analysis was used to analyze the transcripts. The use of content analysis is consistent with various other forms of CBPR sport and physical-activity related research with Indigenous peoples (see McHugh, Coppola, Holt & Andersen, 2015). Additionally, content analysis is often used when text is the primary form of data and when little is known about the topic being explored (Elo & Kyngas, 2008). Specifically, Elo and Kyngas' (2008) three phase approach (i.e., preparation, organization, reporting) was used to analyze the findings. During the *preparation* phase, the unit of analysis was selected. Specifically, the words and sentences of the collaborators were the units of analysis. Following this decision, the transcripts

were read and re-read by myself numerous times to establish in-depth familiarity with the data. In the second phase, the process of *organization* began. An open coding strategy was used to organize the data. Open coding is described as the process that results in theme identification with the support of a codebook (Morse, 2000). Specifically, for this research, content-specific headings were created within each transcript, which subsequently supported the generation of categories within a codebook. Higher order theme headings were then created after grouping content-specific headings. To ease this process, as Morse and Field (2002) suggested, I drew out multiple variations of a tree-diagram to visualize the relationships between themes. After these two phases were complete, the process of *reporting* took place. Reporting was established through the use of direct quotes from the collaborators to represent themes.

It should be noted that the collaborators were invited to take part in the reporting phase of the content analysis. Thus, meetings were set up between myself and the collaborators to discuss the findings. Although all collaborators were given the option to review their transcripts after they were completed, all opted for a meeting to discuss the findings at a later date instead. The findings were compiled and discussed with individuals, and additions were made as the collaborators saw fit. Once the final draft of the results section was completed, we met for a second time to review and edit the draft. It should be noted that the members of the sharing circle decided to have one member of the group, the known sponsor, make edits on their behalf. After feedback from collaborators was incorporated into the final reporting of the results, the final draft was sent to all individuals to review and provide their final thoughts and feedback.

Rigour

To establish rigour, Schinke et al.'s (2013) characterizing traits for judging community-based research were followed. Specifically, Schinke and colleagues' (2013) characterizing traits of *community driven research*, *local practices/methods*, *decentralizing university academics*, and

prolonged engagement were maintained in this research process. This research was community driven as the research topic, questions, purpose, methods, and results were shaped by collaborators that participated in this research project. Local practices/methods were also utilized. For example, the way the collaborators shared in the sharing circle interview was specific to the practices of the group, rather than bound to academic group interview structures. As well, by having the known sponsor co-facilitate the sharing circle, it was possible to integrate local practices in which the group was familiar. The decentralizing of university academics was also important within this research. As one example of this, when we met for face-to-face interviews, we met in their spaces rather than on campus. As well, the collaborators played a significant role in the data analysis, and the reporting of findings more specifically. *Prolonged* engagement with this community (via the known sponsors) was maintained, as this is an extension of the research of my supervisor, who has an ongoing and trusting relationship with the known sponsors of this research. As well, in terms of prolonged engagement, I engaged in multiple conversations and meetings with the collaborators throughout the study to inform various aspects of this research process, including data generation and analysis.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

The purpose of this research was to explore Indigenous peoples' perspectives of physical literacy. The guiding questions aimed to explore how Indigenous educators, coaches, and mentors understand physical literacy, and their role in facilitating physical literacy among Indigenous youth. The findings are represented by six themes: (a) wisdom sharing, (b) being mindful in teachings, (c) youth-centered approaches, (d) active for life, (e) culture and spirituality as part of being active for life, and (f) relational support.

Wisdom Sharing

The collaborators on this research project shared their understandings of the term physical literacy and, within their descriptions, they emphasized the importance of understanding and learning about being active for life. The collaborators emphasized how each component of physical literacy (i.e., motivation, confidence, physical competence, knowledge, and understanding) was of equal importance for continuing activity throughout their life. However, the collaborators suggested that developing the "value" and "responsibility" for being active for life, particularly among youth, are crucial as they are often described as the most difficult components to foster and maintain. The collaborators articulated the important role that they each play in supporting the development to value and take responsibility for engagement in physical activities for life amongst Indigenous youth. They offered suggestions on ways to facilitate such development through processes of wisdom sharing. Specifically, wisdom sharing was described as sharing knowledge through stories and pictures with youth, or through a process of role modelling.

Elisapee said that physical literacy means, "how to be active, and how to learn to be active". She stressed that the term is "not just *being* physical but is *learning* about it and reading

about it" too. Similarly, Athena described physical literacy as, "just understanding the benefits of being active, understanding the benefits of having that in your lifestyle." The collaborators explained how they, as educators, coaches, and mentors, play an important role in facilitating physical literacy through wisdom sharing.

Athena described the success she has had in the past with "wisdom sharing". She described wisdom sharing as a process of sharing knowledge and history with Indigenous youth through pictures and stories. In her experience, learning the history "really strikes a chord with [Indigenous] youth." Athena sees importance in Indigenous youth connecting with history. In her experience it has helped to facilitate deep conversation with, and supported critical observations by, youth. Athena shared the following story to expand on the process of wisdom sharing she had used before:

I had old black and white [photos] where we had slim trim Elders dressed in their traditional regalia. It wasn't even regalia back then 'cause that's just how they were. They just dressed like that all the time and they were active and there were old men working on the land or sitting there as compared to some of our commonplace modernday Elders where there's a lot of obesity, and there's a lot of sedentary lifestyle. So we have to, and I remember saying like 'we weren't big back in the day'. If we were big, we were big, hardy, and strong, not obese and overweight and had chronic diseases or all of those things. So it's really good to understand the history of who we are and understand the history of our lifestyle being nomadic and always moving with the land and the animals and the cycles of nature... 'cause I think if we don't learn from our history how can we survive in the future?

Athena suggested that by engaging youth in important conversations about the historical context of physical activities and active lifestyles, it may support youth in understanding and taking responsibility for their physical activity.

Elisapee also described a similar process of wisdom sharing, albeit she did not refer to it using this specific terminology. She described a time that she presented her culture to a group of students with whom she was working:

I had to do a presentation on Inuit and it was really cool to learn about our traditional hunting games...it made me more proud to be Inuit and I guess like learning more about what we did before contact, and wanting to learn more, and wanting to do some of it. Cause I was watching some old footage of an Inuit man jumping a certain way on the snow to create an air bubble so the seals would come up, and that is how he hunted seals and the way he learned how to hunt seals... he watched the polar bears. So, like the polar bears taught us how to hunt. I was like 'that is SO freaking cool' like, my people are so freaking cool. So, I want to learn more of that and be able to do it and then hopefully get youth involved....in P.E. class instead of doing fitness tests, I'd rather have learned how the polar bear has taught my people how to hunt...it has more context. It actually serves a real purpose, in my opinion. In that everything physical that we did had a purpose, it was fun, or it was for survival.

Elisapee's experience demonstrates how sharing culture, history, or simply knowledge of physical activity can support Indigenous youth in their understanding of physical literacy.

The collaborators described how wisdom sharing could take place through role modeling. Jessica described how role modeling could be as simple as her saying to her students "last night I went to Bikram [yoga] for an hour". She described how such brief statements could get her students interested in such activities, as "...just giving them experiences and kind of encouraging it and showing them that I participate in physical exercise and that I think it's important, and hopefully that'll shadow into their own lives a little bit." The collaborators explained how coaches, educators, and mentors serve as role models and could use "teaching moments" to demonstrate how physical activity is important in the facilitation of physical literacy to youth. Jennifer explained how a "teaching moment" could include, for example, taking the stairs instead of the elevator with youth when both options are available.

Although it was discussed that educators, coaches, and mentors have an important role in role modeling physical activity and other healthy behaviours to youth, Clara noted the importance of discussing physical literacy with the broader community so that everyone understands their role. She said,

I think a lot of our communities aren't at the point yet where they're suddenly going to be able to run their own physical literacy programming at a highly effective rate. But at least starting the process of having these sorts of discussions with people that buy in, with stakeholders, with individuals that want to make change... and understanding from their perspective why they think it's important. And trying to put together ways to get over those barriers and trying them out because the only way that we're going to be able to address these barriers is by working with the communities and trying their ideas first.

As stated by Clara, it is important that there is buy-in from the whole community and role modeling is just one way for knowledge holders (e.g., educators, coaches, mentors, community champions) to achieve this.

Being Mindful in Teachings

Each collaborator discussed their role in facilitating physical literacy among Indigenous youth. In describing their roles, the collaborators highlighted the importance of being mindful in the approach to teaching and facilitating physical literacy. They described the differences in responsibility that Indigenous youth may have compared to non-Indigenous youth, and the importance for individuals working with youth to be mindful of such differences. The collaborators offered practical suggestions for creating positive environments for Indigenous youth to maintain motivation and confidence to participate. Specifically, they shared the impact of using humour and humility to create such environments for Indigenous youth.

Both Melody and Brent shared that they felt Indigenous youth are interested in developing their physical literacy. Melody explained how:

...just being physical in general pays a huge role in [her students'] lives in a positive way... and it is such an important thing because it gives them a sense of community that they maybe don't have in other parts of their lives.

However, Melody and Brent noted that Indigenous youth often have difficulty entering the community of physical activity which can be compounded by the approach that educators, coaches, and mentors choose to take in facilitating physical literacy. For instance, Darby explained, "a weakness in teaching [physical literacy] would occur when the bar is put to high.

[Physical literacy] needs to be taught to them where they are at so that they don't get overwhelmed." Thus, it is important for educators, coaches, and mentors to be mindful when working with Indigenous youth.

A common thread in the conversations was that often Indigenous youth have different responsibilities than non-Indigenous youth. As Elisapee pointed out, a large part of motivating Indigenous youth is giving them space for them to be kids while still recognizing that Indigenous youth often are not able to "just be kids". As Jana suggested, "our kids have other responsibilities.... They have to babysit, right? They can't show up for practice 5 times a week." To demonstrate this further, Elisapee highlighted her own experiences growing up as an Indigenous youth in an urban centre. She explained how she had two younger siblings to take care of while her mom was at work, how she worked and went to school, and how she tried to make time for extracurricular activities. She explained how all these responsibilities made activities in physical education, like dodgeball, seem trivial. As Elisapee explained, "I would have rather been at work, or anywhere else besides playing dodgeball." Jessica shared a similar sentiment about the importance of being mindful in her teachings. She said:

For motivation you really have to find something that is intrinsically motivating to students. I guess you could do dodgeball. If everyone just goes back to dodgeball... but really, who wants to play dodgeball? So, just seeing what kids are actually interested in, if there's specific sports, if there's yoga's... There's all different kind of avenues. I guess physical activities range so much that it's just kind of like keying into their motivation, would be like keying into their interests.

Athena discussed how humour could be used to engage and connect students, particularly in the context of physical education. To demonstrate this point, she shared some of the best practices she has seen used by physical educators with whom she works. She shared that a colleague of hers, who teaches an all girls high school physical education class, has designated Wednesday classes as "Sweat Your Eyebrows off Wednesdays", which plays into the current

popular make-up trend where women and girls fill in, or colour, their eyebrows to make them appear thick, dark, and full. By identifying this commonality amongst the students, confidence and motivation to participate was garnered in the students according to Athena. Athena shared the importance of using such practices:

Their willingness to want to try, their willingness to check out new things, especially if it is framed with fun, y'know? I think that it's important to frame things with fun or something that connects them... [Sweat Your Eyebrows off Wednesday] connects the girls and it connects the humour 'cause humour is huge in our communities. So, I think that's a really good thing.

In addition to humor, Melody also noted that it is important to be mindful to direct youth into programs that will facilitate lifelong activity. She described the importance of ensuring that "kids are in the right environment." She further stated,

... If we went and threw them into the soccer academy or athletic leadership class, our kids would be so isolated in that like...these kids are together all the time in an organized sport, and I don't fit into this' instead of making sure there are different levels of [competition].

In her experience, Melody described how she has noticed that the Indigenous youth are often intimidated by physical activity. As such, Jessica shared how the intimidation factor that can come with physical activity is the reason why it is important to keep the climate of instruction as non-judgemental as possible.

Elisapee highlighted the importance of humility in facilitating a positive environment for Indigenous youth to develop their physical literacy. When working in positions of authority she suggested that people should approach their instruction with humility, as she shared: "when [the youth she works with] see me make mistakes or be embarrassing, the more they'll see they can make those mistakes and be embarrassed and know that it is a safe place to be." Clara shared a similar notion in reflecting on her experience as a physical literacy coordinator:

It's being honest with the kids. Y'know there are some days where I'd show up and something wasn't working out, so I'd be like 'OK, what do you guys want to do?' And their answer would be like 'well, let's go for a walk along the river' or 'let's go out into the woods', or 'let's just play a game of bump', or maybe 'we'll just color for today'. Like those are the things you have to be OK with and support them in and let them experience.

Jessica shared her experience leading a "boot camp" last year with her students. In reflecting on the boot camp's success, Jessica said, "we had a good time because we were all trying to get in shape together." She shared how using friendly competition between herself and her students helped to make it enjoyable for the students. For instance, her students would challenge her to see who could last longer in a wall sit and she was often beat by her students. Taking part in the boot camp activities and showing humility in her own physical ability helped to encourage her students throughout the program; perhaps, similar to Elisapee and Clara's experience.

Brent and Jennifer shared the importance of being mindful of how sporting opportunities, or lack thereof, could be detrimental to Indigenous youth's overall experiences of physical activity. Brent stated,

When a student goes and puts themselves out there, they're like 'I guess I'll go try out for volleyball' and it's just so harsh right. It's like 'nope, no you didn't make the team... sorry' it's so cold and black and white and I think that everyone here has talked about the importance of community and there is such a lack of that in sports, or in physical literacy in general because we should be having those conversations with kids and have other resources, right?

Further elaborating on such challenges, Melody described how certain activities have their own communities, like yoga or hockey. As such, trying to join a hockey or yoga community can be very daunting. Darby described how an Indigenous youth might even feel isolated by their peers. She imagined that if a peer group only participated in certain activities, it might be difficult for youth to have the confidence to step out on their own and say, "come on guys, let's try this".

Overall, members of the group suggested that in order to effectively facilitate physical literacy as

an educator, coach, or mentor it is important to be mindful in the approach taken in working with Indigenous youth.

Youth-Centered Approaches

All collaborators acknowledged the important role of confidence in physical literacy and suggested that using youth-centered approaches could strengthen the confidence of Indigenous youth. Youth-centered approaches were defined as meaningfully engaging youth in the instruction, and even at times planning, of physical activity, sport, and physical education programming. Collaborators discussed the importance of providing youth with opportunities to have authority in choosing which activities to participate in and reiterated that youth are experts in their own right. The collaborators discussed the potential impact of making activities relevant to the interest of youth, as a means to encourage the development of confidence and motivation.

In reflecting on the opportunities she had growing up, Elisapee shared stories from her own physical education experience. She compared her experience in two different physical education classes. With respect to one teacher, Elisapee shared: "Y'know, [the teacher] would always make jokes to me about how I am so small and stuff like that, but she would also be really encouraging. I enjoyed P.E. with her!" Elisapee described how her height, being under five feet, would often make her feel like she was unable to participate in contemporary physical activities like basketball, volleyball, or baseball. However, this specific physical education teacher provided encouragement and made her feel like she was indeed capable of participating in various activities with her classmates. Elisapee shared the contrast she felt the next year:

It was kind of a different story, and a lot of people didn't really want to participate because of [the teacher]... I think our skills started to be not as developed because we didn't have that confidence anymore because our educator didn't think it was important to support us in that way. I think that is an educator's responsibility to help build the confidence of young people, especially when they are doing activities that make them

somewhat uncomfortable. It is important to always reassure them that they are doing the best that they can.

In order to support the development of confidence to participate in physical activity, the group discussed the importance of acknowledging Indigenous youth as 'experts of their own experience'. As Clara explained:

I think that it's important that we recognize all youth from y'know, 0 to 25, whatever your definition of youth is. To respect them as experts of their own experiences, that's the crux of it. An 8-year-old's gonna know how to play better than I do now so y'know sitting and having conversations with these kids about what it is they wanna do and what is it they struggle with. And making sure that if I was running any sort of program that was dependent upon their participation then I made sure that it was something they wanted to do and that they were interested in doing...that relationship building [with youth] is so important.

Like Clara, Elisapee discussed the importance of collaborating with the youth to find and plan activities that are meaningful to them. That is, activities are those in which the youth want to participate. Elisapee takes a youth-centered approach when working with youth because: "...in my opinion I work for them, so I just do whatever is in my power to make sure there are no barriers to whatever they want to do." As an example of taking a youth-centered approach, Athena shared:

Yesterday I had really good conversation with a phys ed teacher and he was talking about the challenges he feels in teaching a combined class... last year they had separate classes, male, female, and he really enjoyed teaching both classes, but he said it was so different. [He] said 'I had to scrap my plans when I was dealing with my female fitness or female phys ed because it wasn't about sports and skill development. With the females it was about fitness and empowerment and what makes them feel good and getting them going for that 20 minutes so they feel the power of the endorphins. Where the boys were more like competition and let's get this done, let's win. And the girls were like let's be active, let's tone and tighten' kinda thing so it was really cool to see that.

In this example, the educator noticed that the youth he worked with had different interests and recognized that it was his responsibility to adapt each class to the specific interests of his students in order to provide them with a meaningful physical education experience.

Overall, there was agreement that youth should be able to choose the activities in which they feel comfortable participating. Clara explained:

A lot of my success was just based on their willingness to give me a try really, to work with me and I think that should be the first thing that anyone working with Indigenous youth do. Make sure you build those relationships with them first and you recognize them as you know adults. I don't wanna say adults, but their own independent people that have critical thought and they know what they wanna do and they understand why it's important to be healthy. They're not clueless. Every single youth I spoke to understood that being active was important, whether they enjoyed it or not. Some of them, y'know, hated physical activity and they still do and there's no way I'll ever make them be able to do it, but they're very open and willing to talk with me about it at least, which I think is important. So yeah just building a relationship with them is the most important thing.

As Melody and Elisapee mentioned, when Indigenous youth feel comfortable and safe in a physical activity environment, they are more likely to be open to participating, which may lead to youth gaining the motivation, confidence, and physical competence to continue to participate in physical activities for life.

Jessica shared that although her current role does not explicitly include teaching physical education to students, if she were to work in that capacity again she believes that it is really important to motivate students by finding something that interests them. In her opinion, the physical education curriculum is only as good as the how the educator facilitates it. For instance, if a teacher does not feel comfortable or strongly connected to teaching the dance unit, that will be apparent in their teaching, which will then lead to the disengagement of the students. Thus, an important consideration, as stated by Clara, is that "[Indigenous youth] feel safe, that they're having fun, that they're feeling motivated and encouraged to participate."

Active for Life

All collaborators described how a key component for facilitating physical literacy should be to focus on promoting, or facilitating, opportunities to be active for life. Through stories, the collaborators shared how their own participation in physical activity has changed throughout the course of their life. They shared the differences in activity that they had participated in through childhood, adulthood, pregnancy, injury, and lack of motivation. They discussed how exposing Indigenous youth to a variety of different activities, may positively impact their likelihood to continue to be active throughout life.

As stated by Athena, physical literacy is not just organized sport. She explained, "when I think about [physical literacy] I think about being active for life... and all the ways to be active throughout your whole life whether it be walking, sports, recreation..." She further explained:

I think it's important that [Indigenous youth] have access to physical literacy. So, some sort of means beyond sport because [my colleagues and I] had this discussion yesterday where recreation and activity doesn't mean just sport y'know. It could mean a lot to these young girls, especially to talk about fitness and keeping yourself. Y'know it's part of self-empowerment and self-esteem. So, I think that's really important piece of the physical literacy.

Elisapee suggested that the term "physical activities" in the IPLA (2015) definition of physical literacy might lead people to relate such activities to organized sport. To Elisapee the use of the term "active for life" instead may be more inviting to people outside of academia and leave the definition more open for interpretation. In reaction to initially reading the IPLA (2015) definition, Elisapee laughed and said:

I read [the definition of physical literacy] and I'm like uh...I'm not going to join a baseball team anytime soon, I'm not tall enough... if it were understood as active for life, I think that would relieve a lot of pressure for everyone.

Similarly, Darby argued that leaving the definition to be associated with only organized sport might "be overwhelming and act as a barrier" for Indigenous youth. Brent pointed out all things physical are typically associated with physical education, and how this often means that physical activities are associated with sport. In his mind, physical activities are so much more than just games, like dodgeball or volleyball. As Jana shared, "anyone can be active....you can go for a walk in the river valley, you can go climb stairs, it's not about always being on an organized

team sport. It's about playing out at the park." Jessica described that when facilitating physical literacy, Indigenous and non-Indigenous youth should be given as many opportunities as possible as means to encourage the development of physically motivated, confident, and competent youth. Jessica shared:

I have to try to keep in mind that, as I'm teaching Physical Education, I'm also teaching the responsibility for engagement in physical activities for life. And that in the same aspect I am giving students the confidence, the motivation, and the physical competence to be able to, once they graduate, carry out physical activity for life. 'Cause I think without [points to the IPLA (2015) definition], you can't actually have physical activity for life.

To Jessica, it is the responsibility of educators to ensure that youth are ready to take responsibility for their own physical activity in life and understand the importance of it and continue to once they leave high school. In reflecting on her own experience, Jessica shared that she grew up playing sports and leading an active lifestyle. However, once she finished high school, physical activity was not nearly as accessible to her as there was no longer mandatory physical education class everyday or after school sports programs. Even though she felt she had the knowledge and physical competence to participate in physical activities, she did not make being active a priority directly after high school. It was not until her late 20's that she began to value and take initiative in being active again. To clarify her point, Jessica shared:

You finish high school, and you don't have phys ed anymore and if you want to go to the gym it's like \$60 or \$70 a month. I don't know if the value is being instilled enough about how that is probably the best \$60 or \$70 you spent that month.

To bridge this gap, Jessica suggested that before Indigenous youth finish high school there needs to be more of an emphasis on the importance of taking responsibility and what that might look like throughout life. This may, of course, be through processes already shared such as wisdom sharing and role modelling as well as providing youth with opportunities to engage in meaningful physical activity experiences.

The collaborators described how participation in physical activities changes throughout the course of their lives, or at least that has been their experience so far. Athena spoke about transitioning through activities in her life, including being a competitive swimmer, swimming at a college level, to coaching, and having children, and now doing activities as a family. The consensus was that it is possible to promote and facilitate being active for life, but such activities might change because of age, different life experiences, level of motivation, or confidence.

Culture and Spirituality as Part of Being Active for Life

The collaborators discussed how they would articulate the concept of physical literacy to the youth with whom they work. In discussing this, the collaborators emphasized the importance of acknowledging that the term physical literacy is open to interpretation. They suggested that it may be considered as a reflection statement to begin conversations about being active for life, rather than a static definition. Through such conversations, the collaborators acknowledge the role of culture and spirituality in their *own* experiences of being active, and how this has been important in their lives but may not necessarily be reflected in others.

When discussing teaching the concept of physical literacy to Indigenous youth, Darby said:

It's not a definition I would teach the kids... it's overwhelming. You look at it and it's taken us how long to just break it down? In how many steps? So, for a kid to look at this and have a complete understanding... like, I wouldn't even start and try because there is so much there. So, I guess it depends who the definition is aimed for...like, professionals or kids?"

Jana agreed, and added:

I think the terminology, for kids, is confusing because the term physical literacy is confusing. It is not a term that they're gonna immediately associate...or like people relate too. And maybe that's the thing you just consider when you're trying to educate, is that. I don't know. I'm not crazy about the use of those terms [with kids] 'cause it's not something that is identifiable right away.

Athena agreed that when working with the concept of physical literacy, it is important to identify who the audience is, as that will affect how the concept is communicated. Athena discussed how

she understands the definition as a reflection statement, rather than a definitive answer to what physical literacy means. She shared:

I think I could probably utilize this, and this is kind of a starting point for a lot of conversation when I'm going into schools and introducing our programming...I think it elicits conversation, elicits provoking thought....it's a reflection statement you almost think 'well, okay. How or what I'm doing in my own life and my own wellness, am I adhering to some of these values that are in this definition' and I think when people look at that and they look at their approach to either education, programming, or policy in their school I think this is a really good framework and a good start to that discussion and that conversation about what does physical literacy look like in your school? What do you think it is? ...it provokes thought, for sure. ... I think this kind of definition would definitely help frame that conversation. I'm gonna borrow this.

Collaborators discussed how the definition should be open to interpretation and that educators, coaches, and mentors should be open to listening to youth as their understandings are likely different from individual to individual. To expand on this, Elisapee laughed and added, "for instance, what I consider physical literacy is probably not the same for my 10-year-old brother." Melody described how her understanding of physical literacy involves community. She acknowledges the role that others have had in shaping her own physical literacy journey. She explained:

For me, I think like it's how it fits in to your life and your community. Like...a huge part of [physical literacy] is the community that you build from it or like... how it is connected to your family, or your people.

In addition, Athena contemplated how spirituality may be a piece missing from the definition as she reflected on some of her experiences being active in life:

I find that especially with my walking outside when it's bright out it's a connection for me too. It's a spiritual connection because I'm paying homage to the surroundings and, oftentimes, I lay down tobacco because I feel blessed to be in this area. Especially when it's beautiful. Like yesterday I went for a little walk and the hoar frost was off on the trees and I'm like 'oh my gosh!' and I ran and grabbed my tobacco and I laid it down and I said a prayer because I just felt so blessed and so thankful to be where I was at, at that time.

As another example, Athena shared:

As a volleyball team we would pray before our super big matches as a group, as a team. We'd always pray together and that was part of bridging that spirituality with our physical knowledge and our prowess.... So, having that spiritual support I think it really, really helped us. I think it really rounded out us, y'know, just who we were and then what we were there to do.

Although being outside and being active or praying with her team are ways for Athena to connect to her spirituality, she felt as though it did not necessarily have to be added to the definition as spirituality is connected to her in her everyday life. Thus, spirituality would be part of her understanding of physical literacy regardless of it being incorporated into a formal definition.

Elisapee shared a similar sentiment to Athena, but in regard to culture. Elisapee explained how her culture is intertwined into her understanding of physical literacy now. She explained: "To me physical literacy is how to take care of yourself...For me, I think physical literacy and cultural competency, kind of go hand-in-hand because it is so active." She shared stories of walking through the forest and appreciating her surroundings, while thinking to herself "what would my Elders say?, or 'okay, what's the land trying to teach me right now?" To Elisapee, this time was important for building her cultural competencies, which she described as:

[Cultural competencies] to me are learning about culture and how to like put it into your everyday, and feeling confident enough in expressing your culture, and having the skills to talk about it and also the skills to talk about it with people who are more challenging.

Again, Elisapee felt like culture or cultural competencies could be added to the formal definition but that it may not be necessary if the definition was indeed open to interpretation. Similarly,

Clara shared her perspective that:

[Culture and Spirituality] play a certain role, but again I don't know if it would be a significant role... I think through my research one of the biggest things that I talked about with kids is how, I mean definitely cultural programming, on-the-land programming are very important to them, but it's not the end-all, be-all of what we need to be prescribing to our kids. I don't think that everything has to be rooted in culture or spirituality as much as the literature says it does.

The group did discuss how it may be important to incorporate more cultural teachings into physical education programs. As Elisapee suggested, there is a lot of missed opportunity to work with Elders to improve the curriculum for not only Indigenous youth, but non-Indigenous youth as well. She shared the example of square dancing and questioned why Pow Wow dancing was not part of the physical education curriculum. Clara shared her perspective on this, in saying that it is important to consider the diverse communities of Indigenous youth. She said,

Always go into communities with an open mind, with y'know the idea of taking a holistic perspective first and foremost. So, understanding that all communities are at different places and all communities have you know different spaces, different facilities, different histories, all sorts of different things and that there really isn't sort of one, singular approach you can take that's going to be effective in every community.

Relational Support

Although the collaborators acknowledged the various roles they have in facilitating physical literacy, they suggested that there are many other people in the lives of Indigenous youth that could offer support and opportunities for being active. To demonstrate this point, the collaborators shared stories of how they, as Indigenous peoples, came to be physically active. Generally, all individuals attributed their value of physical activity, or motivation to be physically active to a type of support they received in their life. Supports were described as parents, friends, and community champions.

As Charlie suggested, "support is one of the biggest things in facilitating [physical literacy]". To further emphasize this point, Clara said, "If my friends weren't active, if my parents weren't active, if my teachers weren't active, I probably wouldn't have been active." Further reflecting on her experience growing up, Clara shared:

Physical activity was my only escape and my only way I felt like I was a part of something. I had friends and I had a community and so that's what I really rooted myself in. Without the support, I definitely would not have been active. That was the only reason I was active.

Through our discussions, a number of other supports were identified, including family and friends and community champions.

Collaborators acknowledged the support of their parents in their reasoning behind being active. Melody shared how her dad always coached the teams she and her siblings played on, and how her mom would always be there to watch and support them. Referring to her dad, Melody said "... he learned basketball so he could coach us basketball and he learned hockey so he could coach my brother... he went out and did that [for us]." To expand on the role of parents in providing youth opportunities for physical literacy, Melody shared:

If it is something the parents' value it is more likely to work out for them, if it is something their parents don't value like... you can't call your mom and say 'I am staying for practice today' and your mom says 'no, you need to come home' then you need to come home like you don't get to make that decision as a 13 year old.

As an example, Athena shared that she initially became involved in physical activity because her dad was a physical education teacher that always advocated for his children to be active. She suggested that she was raised through a framework were the priorities in life were "family, sport, work, then friends and all the other stuff."

Although family support was mentioned as an important factor in facilitating physical literacy, there was a common understanding that not all parents can show their support for their children by going and watching them participate in sport and physical activities. As Charlie explained:

If you have a kid that is living in the city than they can just take the bus. Like, y'know... they can just find a way to get to where they need to be... then they don't really rely on that family support and some kids just don't have that support, so I think that's really big thing.

Jana agreed and added that often families will live in the west-end of the city, parents will work downtown, and their children will have games on the south or east-end of city, making it difficult for parents to attend every game.

In addition to family support, Athena shared how the connections she made with her teammates helped to bolster the value and passion she now has for being active:

My best friends growing up were my team mates and they still are, y'know?...We played a lot of high level volleyball and it was something that we had been together since, I think over 10 years we played together as a team so we really grew together as women, as moms, and as young adults and so on.

Similarly, Darby shared:

For me it was going to the gym. I didn't want to. So, I avoided it all the time and then finally a girlfriend got me in, and we went... I got back the confidence, competence, and the understanding and ... I valued it a whole lot more because I was able to go on that journey whereas when I didn't want to go to the gym, I would drive past and be like 'oh, the parking lots too full [laughs].'

For Jessica, no one necessarily explicitly communicated the importance of physical activity to her, however her parents did enroll her in a school with well-established sports programs, and she explained:

I didn't come from a very physically fit family, and I think parents get busy and stuff like that. I think in elementary my parents really put me in sports to keep me out of trouble, something to do.... I've always kind of been interested in sports because I did sports performance-based high school. I went to an Academy school so it was kind of like even though I wasn't so interested in it, I was kind of just put in that pool and I just kinda ran with it.

As Jessica suggested, being in that environment, where friends, teachers, and the greater school community placed value on the sports, made such activities more accessible to her.

Aside from family and friends, key members of the community were identified by collaborators as people that could facilitate opportunities for Indigenous youth to develop their physical literacy. Athena and Clara named these key knowledge holders as community champions. Athena and Clara's perspective may have been solidified with the roles that they had in their own communities, as experts in physical literacy or general health and wellness. From her experience in the field, Clara suggested:

I think the most important thing, realistically, is to try and look at having at least one person within the community willing to share their knowledge and share their experiences, if they have any sort of formal training...I actually found that physical literacy work was most successful when you have one person, whether it's in the community or in the facility or you know whatever it is, as kind of the expert I guess and then really relying on the knowledge and the strengths of the older youth who really wanna step up and they, y'know be able to make it beneficial for everyone.

With a similar stance on the idea of having a community champion to share their knowledge with a community, or group of Indigenous youth, Athena shared:

I think that physical literacy is a responsibility for people that are knowledgeable to give back to the community. I really believe that's a continuation of who we are as people, and Elders talk about having your spirit live on and so on. And I think a whole lot of that comes from your contribution back to the people that you're a part of, and where you come from. So coaching is my connection to my community, to my family, to so many other things.

Clara and Athena both agreed that a community champion did not necessarily have to be an outsider, this community champion could be an educator or parent. Clara shared that in her experience, it could even be older youth working with a community lead.

Not only is it positive for Indigenous youth to have a community member sharing their knowledge of physical literacy but, as Athena pointed out, giving back has benefits too and often these benefits go beyond the financial gain of an individual. For example, Athena finds value in her contribution to her community through how it makes her feel spiritually and emotionally. To expand on this point, Athena shared how great it feels for her when a practice goes really well. She stated:

...even when the practice wasn't good... or it didn't feel like it was as good as I thought it could've been, or challenging ,or whatever...it still felt good to be active and be around those kids. I think youth give me so much energy and they keep me young.... It just feels so good to give back to them.

As an example of what a community champion might look like, Athena shared:

I used to own a minivan. Every weekend it was packed because we didn't have parents that were engaged in their children's lives. We didn't have parents that could provide shoes so my girls' team, my girls' basketball team that I used to coach, half of my girls

wore Vans and you know their skate shoes because they wanted to play. But they didn't have a way to get there, so I'd be like picking people up early morning. And I'd have two ball bags and I'd usually have a hockey bag and bag of basketballs and then my team, like six players in the back ready to go. But it was the thing that I understood how important it is for them to have that. And I have some of my girls that are still playing ball and they're playing at a high school level and some of them that are playing a club level and it's so cool to see that. But I also understand that without champions in their life to help them with that to bridge those gaps and kind of do away with those barriers or solve those solutions, they wouldn't have it and I've seen all too often kids with such great potential fall into wayside, fall into the typical statistical trends for our First Nations kids.

Although Athena did not share this story to gain recognition as a community champion in her community, her sharing this story did demonstrate the dedication she had for supporting the youth that she worked with. Perhaps too, this story demonstrates the ability that one key individual has in providing opportunities for Indigenous youth to excel in sport and perhaps beyond.

Overall, the importance of facilitating opportunities for Indigenous youth to excel was summarized by Clara when she said:

I want [the Indigenous youth that I work with] to grow up feeling like they have support and love. Like they have opportunities to excel in whatever it is they want to excel at. And I think that physical literacy, physical activity in sport is just one of the ways that we can do that for youth.... Even now, to me I'm not intimidated by the thought of participating in an activity I haven't done before. If anything, I'm regretful that I didn't participate in the activity growing up because I'm not going to walk out there and be an all-star. So, I think I was lucky enough to grow up with the concept of physical literacy really embedded in my day-to-day life whereas the individuals that didn't have that growing up really struggle now. So, I can see it and that's why I believe in the concept in general, what we're trying to get at with physical literacy and what we're trying to do for our communities with physical literacy. I can get behind that because I myself experienced the benefits of it and I want to be able to give that experience to other Indigenous youth so that they can also overcome the barriers they face, and I think that's the crux of it.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Findings from this research address a critical gap in the physical literacy literature as, to my knowledge, this is the first study that has explicitly explored and highlighted Indigenous peoples' understandings of physical literacy. In addition to sharing their in-depth understandings of physical literacy, collaborators described practical suggestions for facilitating physical literacy amongst Indigenous youth. This research, which is grounded in the voices of Indigenous peoples, has the potential to make an important contribution to sport and physical activity programming and policies. Specifically, findings from this research can serve as an important foundation to ensure that programs and policies are aligned with the perspectives of Indigenous peoples.

Before unpacking the key discussion points from the research findings, it is important to first note, as the collaborators suggested, "Indigenous youth are inherently active." Often within the physical activity and health-related literature, there is a strong focus on the activity levels of Indigenous peoples (e.g., Foulds, Bredin & Warburton, 2012; Foulds, Warburton & Bredin, 2013; Hsu & Warburton, 2018). Inactivity has been used to support the rationale behind intervention studies that aim to increase the wellness of Indigenous peoples (Norman, Petherick, Garcia, Giesbrecht & Duhamel, 2018). However, similar to the Indigenous youth who were involved in Hudson, Spence, and McHugh's (2019) research in the Northwest Territories, the collaborators in the current study emphasized that Indigenous youth are indeed active.

Nevertheless, as described within this study, and consistent with the findings of Hudson et al. (2019), there are many ways that Indigenous youth could be supported to further facilitate positive physical activity experiences. This important point of clarification might be a valuable consideration for those that seek to facilitate physical literacy amongst Indigenous youth.

The physical literacy literature has typically been focused on the ability to perform the fundamental movement skills, as demonstrated in Canada through extensive research regarding

the measurement and evaluation of physical literacy amongst children and youth (Edwards et al., 2018; Tremblay & Lloyd, 2010). However, neither physical competence nor measurement and evaluation were emphasized by the collaborators in the current study. Instead, the collaborators discussed how they viewed physical literacy as a holistic concept whereby all components are necessary for being active throughout life. Holistic understandings of physical literacy have been described by other researchers (e.g., Cairney et al., 2019), but have not necessarily been well attended to in physical literacy policy and practice (Edwards et al., 2017). For instance, many of the physical literacy initiatives that are supported in Canada have been primarily focused on developing physical competence through experiencing movement and FMS (e.g., RBC Right to Play, Boks by Reboks). However, as noted by the collaborators in this study, physical competence is just one component of their holistic understandings of physical literacy. As such, findings from this research suggest the need for more physical literacy initiatives that reflect the holistic nature of this concept, or more specifically the affective and cognitive domains.

Collaborators in this research argued that it is not as important to focus on *how* movement skills are completed, but instead it is important to focus on *why* it is important to be active for life. This aligns with Whitehead's (2013) description of the concept as she argues physical competence is an individual's ability to respond to movement situations with poise, economy, and confidence. In other words, she does not outline what each movement response should look like, nor does she describe how each movement is completed. Instead, she emphasizes that each person embodies physical literacy in their own unique way, and that their reasoning behind being active is based on their motivation, confidence, physical competence, knowledge, and understanding (Whitehead, 2013). Further, the affective and cognitive aspects of Whitehead's (2013) conceptualization of physical literacy seemingly establish the reasons to be

physical, or physically active throughout life. As such, the knowledge and understanding to be active outweighs the importance of how to be active in both the collaborators and Whitehead's (2013) conceptualization of the concept of physical literacy.

To support the development of the cognitive aspect of physical literacy, or rather the knowledge and understanding to be active for life, the collaborators suggested processes of wisdom sharing. Wisdom sharing, for example, can support Indigenous youth in better understanding why being active for life is important. Understanding why it is important to be active for life is valuable in joy-oriented physical education, as such approaches to physical education are rooted in meaning (Kretchmar, 2008). Meaning, as described by Kretchmar (2008), may be established through processes of wisdom sharing that have been described by the collaborators. For instance, Kretchmar (2008) argued that effective joy-oriented physical education is grounded in history and culture. Therefore, approaches of wisdom sharing, or rather embedding history and stories into lessons, may act as a tool for facilitating joy amongst students in physical education classes. Further, the joyful experiences produced during this process may lead activities to become personally meaningful to youth in a way that encourages them to incorporate activities learned in class into their everyday lives.

In many ways, the wisdom sharing described by collaborators relates to Dewey's philosophy in education. As within Dewey's philosophy in education, telling stories and sharing experiences are valuable components of instruction. In essence, the process of wisdom sharing, as explained by the collaborators, may relate to Dewey's (1923) suggestion that students should be provided with opportunities to reflect on their experiences to strengthen their understandings of concepts being presented. Dewey (1938/1963) described how interactions between a person and their environment shapes experience and ultimately learning. Furthermore, the knowledge

gained from one situation becomes a resource for future situations through the principle of continuity. According to Dewey (1938/1963), experiences can be educative and mis-educative, and meaning is constructed once the value is given to each new experience based on the previous. Therefore, educators should use the context (e.g., historical, social, economic, institutional) that they are teaching within as a resource for continuing to facilitate meaningful experiences for youth to learn from. By providing context for movement through the sharing of stories and rooting explanations of movement in history, perhaps Indigenous youth will better develop the knowledge and understanding to continue to be active for life.

In addition to wisdom sharing, the collaborators discussed the importance of being mindful in teachings when working with Indigenous youth. Similar to Halas, McRae, and Carpenter (2013), the collaborators discussed how it is important to acknowledge the differences in experiences among youth. Not only is it important to acknowledge the unique experiences of Indigenous youth, but humour and humility could be used in programming and practice to support Indigenous youth. In a similar fashion, Leddy (2018) described the significance of humour in Indigenous communities. Leddy (2018) suggested that humour is how Indigenous people cope with hardship, stay humble, and communicate. Not only is humour important in Indigenous communities, it is also important amongst youth in physical education classes (Halas, McRae & Petherick, 2012). For instance, when asked what qualities made a person a good educator, the Indigenous youth that participated in Halas et al. (2012), study replied "humour." When an educator uses humour and humility in their practice laughter may ensue, which Gordon (2010) suggests will reduce anxiety, create a positive learning environment, and increase student motivation and enjoyment on a topic. Such positive environments created through the use humour and humility, were also described by the collaborators. As such, being mindful of the

experiences of Indigenous youth and using humour and humility in practice may support the creation of positive environments for Indigenous youth to develop their physical literacy.

Youth, student, pupil, and athlete centered approaches have all been discussed as promising instructional frameworks in physical education, sport, and activity settings (Becker, 2009; Gray, Treacy & Hall, 2019; Kerr & Stirling, 2008; McGladrey, Murray & Hannon, 2010). For example, Kerr and Stirling (2008) suggested that athlete centered approaches in youth sport may support personal and athletic development of youth. Other researchers, such as Gray et al. (2019), described how pupil-centered approaches in physical education better suit the diverse needs of each student and act to re-engage disengaged youth by increasing the authority of students in their learning environments. Such approaches increase motivation for, and engagement in, learning (Gray et al., 2019). Similar to the youth centered approach described by collaborators in the current study, Halas et al. (2013) alluded to aspects of such an approach in describing best practices for quality and culturally relevant physical education for Indigenous youth. For example, Halas et al. (2013) discussed the importance of educators understanding the interests of the Indigenous youth with whom they work. To bolster this suggestion, Halas et al. (2013) shared findings from a previous research study that was conducted in 2002. The Indigenous youth in the 2002 study discussed the differences in how they viewed physical education in elementary and high school (see Champagne & Halas, 2002). Youth suggested that their "love" of physical education was lost once they became high school students, as the activities became irrelevant and were perceived to be forced upon them. Similar sentiments were shared by the collaborators in the current study when describing the need for youth centered approaches to physical literacy. As such, youth centred approaches to physical literacy programming should acknowledge and incorporate the interests of Indigenous youth.

Culture and spirituality were described by collaborators as essential for being active for life. While several researchers (e.g., Halas, 2011; McHugh, 2011; Robinson, Barrett & Randall, 2016) suggest there is a need for physical education and physical activity settings to be culturally relevant to Indigenous youth, collaborators in this research offered an important point for consideration for those seeking to facilitate physical literacy amongst Indigenous youth. The collaborators described how culture and spirituality are components of themselves that are embedded in all aspects of their lives. As such, their culture and spirituality are intertwined with their understandings and experiences of physical literacy, and physical activity in general. By merging the findings, or more specifically the various themes presented in this research, it is possible to consider how being mindful in teachings and taking youth-centered approaches in physical literacy programming could create a space that honours the cultures of Indigenous youth. The critical need to create such space has been acknowledged by Dr. Joannie Halas throughout her years exploring physical education experiences with Indigenous youth (e.g., Douglas & Halas, 2013; Halas, 2011; Van Ingen & Halas, 2006).

Findings from this physical literacy-focused research are consistent to those of Beni, Fletcher, and Ní Chróinín (2017) who examined meaningful physical education and sport experiences among youth. Beni et al. (2017) argued that meaningful experiences occur among youth when they have positive social interactions, are having fun, engage in a level of challenge that is appropriate for their ability, have motor competence, and when learning is personally relevant to them. Researchers have suggested that meaningful physical education experiences can increase the likelihood that students are active for life (Dudley, 2018). The collaborators in this research discussed elements of meaningful physical education experiences, and their role in facilitating such experiences among Indigenous youth. Specifically, in terms of positive social

interactions, collaborators described the relational support provided by parents, friends, and community champions in facilitating physical literacy among Indigenous youth. The importance of relationships were also highlighted by Halas et al. (2012), who discussed how relationship building may be key to facilitating spaces in which Indigenous youth feel comfortable participating in physical activity. Halas et al. (2012) described how Indigenous youth identified successful physical education teachers as the ones that "made an effort" to get to know them personally. Findings from the current study, combined with those of Halas et al. (2012), highlight the critical role of relationships in facilitating meaningful physical education and sport experiences.

Researchers (e.g., Halas, 2011; Mason, McHugh, Strachan & Boule, 2019) have described the various barriers that hinder Indigenous youth's likelihood to be involved in physical activities, including sport and physical education. For example, barriers related to socioeconomic status and racial discrimination are consistently noted in the physical activity literature (Mason et al., 2019). Within physical education classes, Indigenous youth have also expressed feelings of social exclusion (Champagne & Halas, 2003). Collaborators in the current study described such barriers in relation to Indigenous youths' opportunities to access the *community* of sport, physical activity, and physical literacy. In this sense, collaborators described physical literacy as something that had to be accessed. They described how the disproportionate barriers that they, and the youth with whom they work, face in participating in physical activity may hinder Indigenous youths' ability to develop physical literacy and remain active throughout their lives. While not their only concern, collaborators did highlight their unease with Indigenous youth being cut from school sports teams as a result of their various after-school responsibilities that prevent them from being able to fully commit to a team. Being cut from school sport teams

was described by collaborators as being denied access to physical literacy. Although Gleddie, Sulz, Humbert, and Zajdel (2019) acknowledge that it is inevitable that youth are cut from school sports teams, their recommendations for best practices for cutting include being upfront, direct, and providing actionable feedback to youth during individualized face-to-face discussions. In addition to these recommendations, Gleddie et al. (2019) suggest three alternative options to cutting from school sports teams such as creating multiple teams within a school, having a tiered team system, or having one team in which everyone gets to play (Gleddie et al., 2019). In all three scenarios, youth are provided opportunities to participate on a school sport team that may also better match their commitment and developmental level. Perhaps, this is valuable insight to consider when approaching cutting Indigenous youth from school sport teams. Overall, it is critical to acknowledge and address the various barriers that may be preventing Indigenous youth from participating on a school sports team and in physical activity in general.

Physical literacy has been described as a journey whereby individuals follow a unique path of physical activity participation throughout their life (Whitehead, 2013). Within the current study, collaborators emphasized the *dynamic* process of how they understood physical literacy to unfold in their own lives and in the lives of Indigenous youth. They highlighted a reciprocal process that is not as well attended to in the physical literacy literature. Collaborators shared how their physical activity experiences were positively shaped by various individuals and how they now, as knowledge holders, engage in a reciprocal process of giving back to youth by teaching, supporting, or facilitating more opportunities for youth to physically active. As has been described in the literature, the more opportunities that youth have to participate meaningfully in physical activities the more likely they are to be active for life (Beni et al., 2017; Tremblay & Lloyd, 2010). Therefore, coaching, educating, or supporting youth in a way that leads them to

want to do the same in the future, may be an important aspect of physical literacy that is not yet described in the literature. This finding is important for facilitators of physical literacy to consider when working with youth, as it may relate to the overarching goal of the concept to be active for life.

Collaborators in this research described physical literacy and being active for life synonymously. As well, the term physical activity was often used interchangeably with physical literacy when collaborators shared their experiences in this research. This finding is not particularly surprising when considered alongside the findings of Robinson et al. (2018), whom also described how there is confusion among educators when it comes to explaining the concept of physical literacy. Edwards et al. (2017) echoed this point and suggested that much of the confusion regarding terminology was formed from tensions between individuals' conceptual understandings of physical literacy and the resources available to them. As is demonstrated by these various studies, educators and coaches understand the importance of being active for life. However, how the concept of physical literacy should be articulated and implemented seems to cause confusion (Edwards et al., 2017). Perhaps, the focus should remain on the goal of physical literacy (i.e., being active for life) and creating spaces that support meaningful physical education and physical activity experiences, rather than finding a way to articulate physical literacy so that it is understandable to everyone.

Limitations and Future Directions

Despite the various strengths of this research, it also has limitations. For instance, the findings of this research may have been limited by the processes of data generation. The use of arts-based methods was originally discussed as an ideal process for generating data. As suggested by Bagnoli (2009) and Blodgett et al. (2013), arts-based methods can enrich data

generation by going beyond the confines of verbal expression to support multiple ways of knowing and understanding. The use of arts-based forms of expression has demonstrated promise in other physical activity-related research that has involved Indigenous youth (e.g., McHugh et al., 2013). An arts-based method activity was designed for youth participants in the initial conceptualization of the current study. However, the focus of the study changed to adults as I found it extremely challenging to recruit youth within my social network. When the focus of the study shifted to adults, the process of data generation also changed. However, given the potential strength of arts-based approaches, in the future it may be beneficial to explore physical literacy experiences with Indigenous peoples, including adults, using such approaches.

Another limitation of the study was related to recruitment. In addition to educators, coaches, and youth mentors, the original intent of this research was also to include the experiences of Indigenous youth and Elders. Although a known sponsor approach was used to identify potential collaborators, I was unable to identify youth or Elders with whom to collaborate. Indeed, being relatively new to the city in which I was recruiting participants meant that my own personal social network was relatively limited. As well, during the short time of my graduate degree it has been challenging to develop relationships with youth and Elders, and I understand that such relationships are foundational to the trust required to participate in research. Some researchers (e.g., Alfred & Corntassel, 2005) have highlighted the importance of connectedness between generations in many Indigenous cultures. Furthermore, Reading and Wien (2009), suggest that "cultural continuity involves intergenerational cultural connectedness that is maintained through families and Elders who pass on traditions to younger generations" (p. 21). Thus, it is likely that the engagement of Indigenous youth and Elders would have broadened the insights into physical literacy on this project.

In addition to the important role that Elders could serve in helping to deepen understandings of physical literacy, future research should focus on youth perspectives on physical literacy. As noted by the collaborators and other researchers, including Messner and Musto (2014), youth are the experts of their own experiences. Traditionally, sport research has been *about* youth, rather than *inclusive of* youth knowledge (Messner & Musto, 2014). The inclusion of Indigenous youth voice in sport research is even less common (McHugh et al., 2018). Therefore, future researchers should use a youth centered approach to explore the concept of physical literacy. Not only will this ensure that the voices of Indigenous youth are heard in the research literature, but it may also facilitate the relevance of findings that may contribute to future sport and physical activity programming decisions.

Finally, and as suggested by the collaborators in this research, there is a need for more research that seeks to work with diverse Indigenous communities to explore their meanings and understandings of physical literacy. While I am confident that many of the findings from this research could be applied to other Indigenous communities, it is also likely that diverse communities have unique understandings of how physical literacy should be facilitated. Further, it is important to avoid taking a pan-Indigenous lens when approaching programming and policy decisions (Mashford-Pringle, 2016). Therefore, it is necessary to work with various Indigenous communities to explore their perspectives of physical literacy. Working with communities may support the creation of strengths-based physical literacy programming, as community members are experts in their knowledge of resources available.

Conclusion

Findings from this research highlight Indigenous peoples' perspectives of physical literacy. The collaborators in this research shared important insights into their perspectives of

physical literacy and offered practical suggestions for facilitating the development of physical literacy amongst Indigenous youth. This research addresses a significant gap in the physical literacy literature by providing important insight into Indigenous peoples' conceptual understandings of the concept. As well, the practical suggestions made by collaborators for facilitating physical literacy amongst Indigenous youth may support those who work with youth in sport, physical education, and physical activity settings. Overall, the findings from this research may help to inform the decisions of sport and physical education programmers and policy makers, as they seek to ensure physical literacy programming is meaningful to, and inclusive of, Indigenous youth.

References

- Alberta Teaching Association. (2013). Position statement: Indigenous peoples' education. Retrieved from https://www.teachers.ab.ca/About%20the%20ATA/What-We-Think/Position%20Papers/Pages/Indigenous%20Peoples'%20Education.aspx
- Alfred, T., & Corntassel, J. (2005). Being Indigenous: Resurgences against contemporary colonialism. *Government and Opposition*, 40(4), 597-614. doi: 10.1111/j.14777053.2005.00166.x.
- Almond, L. (2013). What is the relevance of physical literacy for adults?: ICSSPE bulletin. *Journal of Sport Science and Physical Education*. 65, 214-222. Retrieved from http://www.icsspe.org/sites/default/files/bulletin65_0.pdf
- Bagnoli, A. (2009). Beyond the standard interview: The use of graphic elicitation and arts-based methods. *Qualitative Research*, *9*(5), 547-570. doi: 10.1177/1468794109343625
- Becker, A. J. (2009). It's not what they do, it's how they do it: Athlete experiences of great coaching. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, 4(1), 93-119. doi: 10.1260/1747-9541.4.1.93
- Beni, S., Fletcher, T., & Ní Chróinín, D. (2017). Meaningful experiences in physical education and youth sport: A review of the literature. *Quest*, 69(3), 291-312. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2016.1224192
- Blodgett, A. T., Coholic, D. A., Schinke, R. J., McGannon, K. R., Peltier, D., & Pheasant, C. (2013). Moving beyond words: Exploring the use of an arts-based method in Aboriginal community sport research. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 5(3), 312-331. doi: 10.1080/2159676X.2013.796490
- Bloor, M., Frankland, J., Thomas, M., & Robson, K. (2001). Focus groups in social research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bruner, M. W., Hillier, S., Baillie, C. P., Lavallee, L. F., Bruner, B. G., Hare, K., ... & Lévesque, L. (2016). Positive youth development in Aboriginal physical activity and sport: A systematic review. *Adolescent Research Review*, *I*(3), 257-269. doi: 10.1007/s40894-015-0021-9
- Buckley, R. C., Brough, P., & Westaway, D. (2018). Bringing outdoor therapies into mainstream mental health. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 6 (119), 1-4. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00119
- Bull, J. R. (2010). Research with Aboriginal peoples: Authentic relationships as a precursor to ethical research. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, *5*(4), 13-22. doi: 10.1525/jer.2010.5.4.13
- Cairney, J., Dudley, D., Kwan, M., Bulten, R., & Kriellaars, D. (2019). Physical literacy, physical activity and health: Toward an evidence-informed conceptual model. *Sports Medicine*, 49(3), 371-383. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01063-3

- Cale, L., & Harris, J. (2018). The role of knowledge and understanding in fostering physical literacy. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *37*(3), 280-287. doi: 10.1123/jtpe.2018-0134
- Canadian Sport Policy. (2012). *Canadian Sport Policy 2012*. Retrieved from https://sirc.ca/sites/default/files/content/docs/pdf/csp2012_en_lr.pdf
- CS4L Society. (2014). *PLAYtools*. Retrieved from http://physicaalliteracy.ca/education-training/play-tools/
- Cargo, M. & Mercer, S. L. (2008). The value and challenges of participatory research: Strengthening its practice. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *29*, 325-350. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.091307.083824
- Champagne, L., & Halas, J. (2002). 'I quit': Aboriginal youth negotiate the 'contact zone' in physical education. In V. Paraschak and J. Forsyth (Eds.) 2002 North American Indigenous Games (NAIG) Research Symposium Proceedings (pp. 85-93). Winnipeg, Canada: University of Winnipeg.
- Chekroud, S. R., Gueorguieva, R., Zheutlin, A. B., Paulus, M., Krumholz, H. M., Krystal, J. H., & Chekroud, A. M. (2018). Association between physical exercise and mental health in 1·2 million individuals in the USA between 2011 and 2015: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *5*(9), 739-746. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30227
- Coyne, P., Vandenborn, E., Santarossa, S., Milne, M. M., Milne, K. J., & Woodruff, S. J. (2019). Physical literacy improves with the 'run jump throw wheel' program among students in grades 4–6 in southwestern Ontario. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, 1-5. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2018-0495
- Crane, J. R., Naylor, P. J., Cook, R., & Temple, V. A. (2015). Do perceptions of competence mediate the relationship between fundamental motor skill proficiency and physical activity levels of children in kindergarten?. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 12(7), 954-961. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2013-0398
- Crocker, P. (2015). *Sport and exercise psychology: A Canadian perspective* (3rd ed). Toronto, Canada: Pearson
- D'Alonzo, K.T. (2010). Getting started in CBPR: lessons in building community partnerships for new researchers. *Nursing Inquiry*, 17(4), 282-288. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1800.2010.00510
- Dewey, J. (1923). *Democracy and education: An introduction to the philosophy of education*. New York, NY: MacMillan.
- Dewey, J. (1963). *Experience and education*. New York, NY: MacMillan. (Original work published 1938).

- Douglas, D. D., & Halas, J. M. (2013). The wages of whiteness: Confronting the nature of ivory tower racism and the implications for physical education. *Sport, Education and Society*, 18(4), 453-474. doi: 10.1080/13573322.2011.602395
- Dubnewick, M., Hopper, T., Spence, J. C., & McHugh, T. L. F. (2018). "There's a cultural pride through our games": Enhancing the sport experiences of Indigenous youth in Canada through participation in traditional games. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 42(4), 207-226. doi: 10.1177/0193723518758456
- Dudley, D. A. (2015). A conceptual model of observed physical literacy. *The Physical Educator*, 72(504), 236-260. doi: 10.18666/TPE-2015-V72-I5-6020
- Dudley, D.A., Cairney, J., Wainwright, N., Kriellaars, D., & Mitchell, D. (2017). Critical considerations for physical literacy policy in public health, recreation, sport, and education agencies. *Quest*, 69(4), 436-452. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2016.1268967
- Edwards, M. B. (2015). The role of sport in community capacity building: An examination of sport for development research and practice. *Sport Management Review*, 18(1), 6-19. doi: 10.1016/j.smr.2013.08.008
- Edwards, L. C., Bryant, A. S., Keegan, R. J., Morgan, K., Cooper, S. M., & Jones, A. M. (2018). 'Measuring' physical literacy and related constructs: A systematic review of empirical findings. *Sports Medicine*, 48(3), 659-682. doi: 10.1007/s40279-017-0817-9
- Edwards, L. C., Bryant, A. S., Keegan, R. J., Morgan, K., & Jones, A. M. (2017). Definitions, foundations and associations of physical literacy: a systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, 47(1), 113-126. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0560-7
- Edwards, L. C., Bryant, A. S., Morgan, K., Cooper, S. M., Jones, A. M., & Keegan, R. J. (2019). A professional development program to enhance primary school teachers' knowledge and operationalization of physical literacy. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 38(2), 126-135. doi: 10.1123/jtpe.2018-0275
- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569
- Ever Active Schools. (2019). *Pathways to physical literacy*. Retrieved from https://everactive.org/pathways-to-physical-literacy/
- Fletcher, C. (2003). Community-based participatory research relationships with Aboriginal communities in Canada: An overview of context and process. *Pimatisiwin: A Journal of Aboriginal & Indigenous Community Health, 1*(1), 27-61. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/235413126
- Forsyth, J. (2014). Aboriginal sport in the city: Implications for participation, health, and policy in Canada. *Aboriginal Policy Studies*, *3*(18), 214-222. doi:10.5663/2.21707

- Foulds, H. J., Bredin, S. S., & Warburton, D. E. (2012). An evaluation of the physical activity and health status of British Columbian Aboriginal populations. *Applied Physiology*, *Nutrition, and Metabolism*, *37*(1), 127-137. doi: 10.1139/h11-138
- Foulds, H. J. A., Warburton, D. E. R., & Bredin, S. S. D. (2013). A systematic review of physical activity levels in Native American populations in Canada and the United States in the last 50 years. *Obesity Reviews*, 14(7), 593-603. doi: 10.1111/obr.12032
- Giblin, S., Collins, D., & Button, C. (2014). Physical literacy: importance, assessment and future directions. *Sports Medicine*, 44(9), 1177-1184. doi: 10.1007/s40279-014-0205-7
- Gillham, B. (2005). Research Interviewing: The Range of Techniques: A practical Guide. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill
- Gleddie, D. L., Sulz, L. D., Humbert, M. L., & Zajdel, A. P. (2019). If you must cut athletes from school sports teams, consider best practices. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 90(2), 24-30. doi: 10.1080/07303084.2018.1546630
- Gordon, M. (2010). Learning to laugh at ourselves: Humor, self-transcendence, and the cultivation of moral virtues. *Educational Theory*, 60(6), 735-749. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-5446.2010.00387.
- Gray, S., Treacy, J., & Hall, E. T. (2019). Re-engaging disengaged pupils in physical education: an appreciative inquiry perspective. *Sport, Education and Society*, 24(3), 241-255. doi: 10.1080/13573322.2017.1374942
- Green, N. R., Roberts, W. M., Sheehan, D., & Keegan, R. J. (2018). Charting physical literacy journeys within physical education settings. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *37*(3), 272-279. Doi: 10.1123/jtpe.2018-012
- Gunnell, K. E., Longmuir, P. E., Woodruff, S. J., Barnes, J. D., Belanger, K., & Tremblay, M. S. (2018). Revising the motivation and confidence domain of the Canadian assessment of physical literacy. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(2), 1045-52. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5900-0
- Halas, J. (2011). Aboriginal youth and their experiences in physical education: "This is what you've taught me". *Revue phénEPS/PHEnex Journal*, *3*(2), 1-23. Retrieved from http://ojs.acadiau.ca/index.php/phenex/article/viewFile/1427/1208
- Halas, J., McRae, H., & Carpenter, A. (2013). The quality and cultural relevance of physical education for Aboriginal youth: Challenges and opportunities In J. Forsyth and A.R. Giles (Eds.), *Aboriginal People & Sport in Canada* (pp. 182-205).
- Halas, J., McRae, H., & Petherick, L. (2012). Advice for physical education teachers from Aboriginal youth: Become an ally. *Physical & Health Education Journal*, 78(3). 6-11. Retrieved from http://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/docview/1282272005?accountid=14474

- HALO. (2017). Canadian assessment of physical literacy: Manual for test administration (2nd ed). Retrieved from https://www.capl-eclp.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/capl-2-manual-en.pdf
- Hofmeyer, A. T., Scott, C. M. (2007). Moral geography of focus groups with participants who have pre-existing relationships in the workplace. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 6(2), 69-79. doi: 10.1177/160940690700600207
- Horowitz, C. R., Robinson, M., & Seifer, S. (2009). Community-based participatory research from the margin to the mainstream: are researchers prepared?. *Circulation*, 119(19), 2633-2642. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.729863
- Hsu, Y. S., & Warburton, D. E. (2018). A review of physical activity status in Canadian Indigenous populations and current physical activity guidelines and evaluation methods. *The Health & Fitness Journal of Canada*, 11(2), 113-121. doi: 10.14288/hfjc.v11i2.256
- Hudson, B. W., Spence, J. C., & McHugh, T. L. F. (2019). An exploration of the physical activity experiences of Northern Aboriginal youth: a community-based participatory research project. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 1-17. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2019.1584123
- Indigenous Foundations. (2009). *About Indigenous foundations: The creation of Indigenous foundations*. Retrieved from https://indigenousfoundations.arts.ubc.ca/about/
- IPLA. (2015). *Physical literacy consensus statement*. Retrieved from http://physicalliteracy.ca/physical-literacy/consensus-statement/
- Irvine, A. (2011). Duration, dominance and depth in telephone and face-to-face interviews: A comparative exploration. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 10(3), 202-220. doi: 10.1177/160940691101000302
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). 'Am I not answering your questions properly?' Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *13*(1), 87-106. doi: 10.1177/1468794112439086
- Kerr, G. A., & Stirling, A. E. (2008). Child protection in sport: Implications of an athlete-centered philosophy. *Quest*, 60(2), 307-323. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2008.10483583
- Kilborn, M., Lorusso, J., & Francis, N. (2016). An analysis of Canadian physical education curricula. *European Physical Education Review*, 22(1), 23-46. doi: 10.1177/1356336X15 586909
- Knox, S., & Burkard, A. W. (2009). Qualitative research interviews. *Psychotherapy Research*, 19(4-5), 566-575. doi: 10.1080/10503300802702105
- Kowalski, K. C., McHugh, T. L. F., Sabiston, C. M., & Ferguson, L. J. (2018). *Research methods in kinesiology*. Toronto, Canada: Oxford University Press.

- Kvale, S. (2008). *Doing interviews*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kretchmar, R. S. (2008). The increasing utility of elementary school physical education: A mixed blessing and unique challenge. *The Elementary School Journal*, 108(3), 161-170. doi: 10.1086/529099
- Krys, K., Vauclair, C. M., Capaldi, C. A., Lun, V. M. C., Bond, M. H., Domínguez-Espinosa, A., ... & Antalíková, R. (2016). Be careful where you smile: Culture shapes judgments of intelligence and honesty of smiling individuals. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 40(2), 101-116. doi: 10.1007/s10919-015-0226-4
- Lavallée, L. F. (2009). Practical application of an Indigenous research framework and two qualitative Indigenous research methods: Sharing circles and Anishnaabe symbol-based reflection. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(1), 21-40. doi: 10.1177/160940690900800103
- Larouche, R., Lloyd, M., Knight, E., & Tremblay, M. S. (2011). Relationship between active school transport and body mass index in Grades-4-to-6 children. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 23(3), 322-330. doi: 10.1123/pes.23.3.322
- Leddy, S. (2018). In a good way: Reflecting on humour in Indigenous education. *Journal of the Canadian Association for Curriculum Studies*, 16(2), 10-20. doi: https://jcacs.journals.yorku.ca/index.php/jcacs/article/view/40348
- Lewis, C. (2001). Literary Practices as Social Acts: Power, Status, and Cultural Norms in the Classroom. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Longmuir, P. E., & Tremblay, M. S. (2016). Top 10 research questions related to physical literacy. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 87(1), 28-35. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2016.1124671
- Lynch, T., & Soukup, G. J. (2016). "Physical education", "health and physical education", "physical literacy", and "health literacy": Global nomenclature confusion. *Cogent Education*, 3(1), 1-22. doi: 10.1080/2331186X.2016.1217820
- Mann, K., Gordon, J., & MacLeod, A. (2009). Reflection and reflective practice in health professions education: a systematic review. *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, 14(4), 595-621. doi: 10.1007/s10459-007-9090-2
- Mashford-Pringle, A. (2016). Aboriginal health and aboriginal education are interconnected. In *Special Social Groups, Social Factors and Disparities in Health and Health Care* (pp. 85-96). Howard House, UK: Emerald.
- Mason, C., & Koehli, J. (2012). Barriers to physical activity for Aboriginal youth: Implications for community health, policy, and culture. *Pimatisiwin: A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health*, 10(1), 97-107. Retrieved from http://www.pimatisiwin.com/online/

- Mason, C. W., McHugh, T. L. F., Strachan, L., & Boule, K. (2019). Urban Indigenous youth perspectives on access to physical activity programmes in Canada. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(4), 543-558. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2018.1514321
- McGladrey, B. W., Murray, M. A., & Hannon, J. C. (2010). Developing and practicing an athlete-centered coaching philosophy. *Youth First: The Journal of Youth Sport*, *2*(5), 4-9. Retrieved from http://files.pitchero.com/counties/22/1408378800.pdf
- McHugh, T. L. F., Coppola, A. M., & Sinclair, S. (2013). An exploration of the meanings of sport to urban Aboriginal youth: A photovoice approach. *Qualitative research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 5(3), 291-311. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2013.819375
- McHugh, T. L. F., Coppola, A. M., Holt, N. L., & Andersen, C. (2015). "Sport is community:" An exploration of urban Aboriginal peoples' meanings of community within the context of sport. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *18*, 75-84. doi:10.1016/2015.01.005
- McHugh, T. L. F., Deal, C. J., Blye, C. J., Dimler, A. J., Halpenny, E. A., Sivak, A., & Holt, N. L. (2018). A meta-study of qualitative research examining sport and recreation experiences of Indigenous youth. *Qualitative Health Research*, 1, 1-13. doi:10.1177/1049732318759668
- Messner, M. A., & Musto, M. (2014). Where are the kids? *Sociology of Sport Journal*, *31*(1), 102-122. doi: 10.1123/ssj.2013-0111
- Mills, K. A. (2005). Deconstructing binary oppositions in literacy discourse and pedagogy. *Australian Journal of Language and Literacy*, 28(1), 67-82. Retrieved from https://search.informit.com.au/fullText;dn=881568229105597;res=IELHSS
- Morse, J.M. (2000). Determining sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 10(1), 3-5. doi: 10.1177/104973200129118183
- Morse, J. M., & Field, P. A. (2002). *Nursing research: The application of qualitative approaches* (2nd ed.). Cheltenham, United Kingdom: Nelson Thornes.
- NCCP. (2016). *NCCP Policy and implementation standards*. Retrieved from https://www.coach.ca/files/NCCP Policies ImplementationStandards Apr 2016 EN.pdf
- Nicholson, M., & Hoye, R. (Eds.). (2008). Sport and Social Capital. New York, NY: Routledge
- Norman, M. E., Petherick, L., Garcia, E., Giesbrecht, G., & Duhamel, T. (2018). Governing indigenous recreation at a distance: a critical analysis of an after school active health intervention. *Sport, Education and Society*, *23*(2), 135-148. doi: 10.1080/135733 22.2016.1155443
- Paraschak, V. (2013). Hope and strength (s) through physical activity for Canada's Aboriginal peoples. In *Native Games: Indigenous Peoples and Sports in the Post-Colonial World* (pp. 229-246). Boston, MA: Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

- Patton, M. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- PHE Canada. (2009). *Position Paper: Physical literacy for educators*. Retrieved from https://phecanada.ca/sites/default/files/content/docs/resources/pl_position_paper.pdf
- Reading, C. L., & Wien, F. (2009). *Health Inequalities and the Social Determinants of Aboriginal peoples' Health* (pp. 1-47). Prince George, BC: National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health.
- Robinson, D. B., Barrett, J., & Robinson, I. (2016). Culturally relevant physical education: Educative conversations with Mi'kmaw Elders and community leaders. *Education*, 22(1), 2-21. Retrieved from https://journals.uregina.ca/ineducation/article/view/260
- Robinson, D. B., Randall, L., & Barrett, J. (2018). Physical literacy (mis) understandings: What do leading physical education teachers know about physical literacy?. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, *37*(3), 288-298. doi: 10.1123/jtpe.2018-0135
- Schinke, R. J., Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2013). Pathways for community research in sport and physical activity: Criteria for consideration. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise & Health*, *5*(3), 460-468. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2013.846274
- Sport for Life (2017). *Aboriginal Communities: Active for life 1.0 resource paper*. Retrieved from http://sportforlife.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Aboriginal-Communities-Active-For-Life_WEB-2017-05-31.pdf?x96000.
- Stearns, J. A., Wohlers, B., McHugh, T. L. F., Kuzik, N., & Spence, J. C. (2019). Reliability and validity of the PLAYfun tool with children and youth in Northern Canada. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, 23(1), 47-57. doi: 10.1080/1091367X.2018 .1500368
- Sturges, J. E., & Hanrahan, K. J. (2004). Comparing telephone and face-to-face qualitative interviewing: a research note. *Qualitative research*, 4(1), 107-118. doi: 10.1177/1468794104041110
- Tremblay, M., & Lloyd, M. (2010). Physical Literacy Measurement the Missing Piece. *Physical & Health Education Journal*, 76(1), 26-30. Retrieved from https://static1. squarespace.com/static/54a621cae4b02cb3ce0a4071/t/57017b7c40261d88349d939f/1459 714941516/Physical%2BLiteracy%2BArticle%2BPHE%2BJournal%2B2010.pdf
- Tremblay, M. S., & Longmuir, P. E. (2017). Conceptual critique of Canada's physical literacy assessment instruments also misses the mark. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, 21(3), 1-3. doi: 10.1080/1091367X.2017.1333002
- Tri-Council Policy Statement 2. Ethical conduct for research involving humans (2014). Ottawa: Interagency Secretariat on Research Ethics. Retrieved from http://www.pre.ethics.gc.ca/pdf/eng/tcps2-2014/TCPS 2 FINAL Web.pdf

- Truth and Reconciliation Commission. (2015). Truth and reconciliation commission of Canada: Calls to action. Retrieved from http://www.trc.ca/websites/trcinstitution/
- Van Ingen, C., & Halas, J. (2006). Claiming space: Aboriginal students within school landscapes. *Children's Geographies*, 4(3), 379-398. doi: 10.1080/14733280601005856
- Wallerstein, N., Duran, B., Oetzel, J., & Minkler, M. (2017). Community-based participatory research for health (3rd edition). San Franciso, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Whitehead 1, M. (2001). The concept of physical literacy. European Journal of Physical Education, 6(2), 127-138. doi: 10.1080/1740898010060205
- Whitehead, M. (2007). Physical literacy: Philosophical considerations in relation to developing a sense of self, universality and propositional knowledge. *Sports Ethics and Philosophy*, *1*(3), 281-298. doi: 10.1080/17511320701676916
- Whitehead, M. (2013). Definition of physical literacy and clarification of related issues. *ICSSPE Bulletin*, 65(1.2), 29-35. Retrieved from http://www.icsspe.org/sites/default/files/bulletin65_0.pdf
- Young, D. R., & Haskell, W. L. (2018). Accumulation of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and all-cause mortality. *Journal of the America Heart Association*, 7(6), 1-2. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.008929
- Zhang, Y., & Lauer, G. (2015). How culture shapes the reading of fairy tales: A cross-cultural approach. *Comparative Literature Studies*, *52*(4), 663-681. doi: 10.5325/complitstudies.5 2.4.0663

APPENDIX A **Ethics Approval**



RESEARCH ETHICS OFFICE

Notification of Approval

Date: June 5, 2018 Study ID: Pro00082356 Principal Investigator: Tara-Leigh McHugh

Study Title: An Exploration of the Cultural Relevance of Physical Literacy

Tuesday, June 4, 2019 Approval Expiry Date:

Approval Date 6/5/2018 6/5/2018 Approved Consent Form:

Approved Document
Killam.Consent form (participants other than Elders).docx
Killam.Consent form (Elders).docx

Killam Cornerstone Grant, University of Alberta Sponsor/Funding Agency:

> Project ID Speed Code Other Information **Project Title**

RSO-Managed Funding: RES0040984 An exploration of the cultural relevance of physical literacy

Thank you for submitting the above study to the Research Ethics Board 1. Your application has been reviewed and approved on behalf of the committee.

A renewal report must be submitted next year prior to the expiry of this approval if your study still requires ethics approval. If you do not renew on or before the renewal expiry date, you will have to re-submit an ethics application.

Approval by the Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to access the staff, students, facilities or resources of local institutions for the purposes of the research.

Sincerely,

Trish Reay, PhD Associate Chair, Research Ethics Board 1

APPENDIX B

Consent Form

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Informed Consent Form

You are invited to participate in the study: "An Exploration of the Cultural Relevance of Physical Literacy". Your participation is voluntary and is not required by any physical activity or sport program in which you may be involved.

Researchers: The study is under the supervision of Dr. Tara-Leigh McHugh (780-492-3907, tara-leigh.mchugh@ualberta.ca), who is an Associate Professor at the University of Alberta in the Faculty of Kinesiology, Sport, and Recreation. Autumn Nesdoly

(autumn.nesdoly@ gmail.com) and Jenna Davie (jdavie@ualberta.ca) are two graduate students in the Faculty of Kinesiology, Sport, and Recreation and they will be involved in all aspects of this research, including the facilitation of talking circles and one-on-one follow-up interviews.

Purpose and Procedures: The purpose of this research is to explore the cultural relevance of physical literacy among Indigenous peoples. The study will require you to participate in a one-on-one interview with one of the researchers and a talking circle with approximately 4 other Indigenous participants. The talking circle and one-on-one interview will each last approximately 1 hour.

The total time required of you for the study will be a maximum of 2 hours. Specifically:

Talking circle (maximum of 1 hour) + one-on-one follow-up interview (1 hour) = 2 hours maximum.

Your time commitment to this research will be acknowledged by giving you a \$30 cash honorarium. \$15 will be provided after participating in the talking circle and \$15 will be provided after participating in the one-on-one interview.

Potential Risks: You will not be subjected to any physical risk, but it is possible that you may feel uncomfortable discussing your experiences regarding sport, physical activity, and culture. In the event that you would like the support of a health professional you may contact the 24 hour Mental Health Help Line (1-877-303-2642), and they will be able to direct you to the appropriate health professional.

Potential Benefits: By sharing your knowledge, you may benefit by knowing that you have contributed to a better understanding of how physical literacy is understood by Indigenous peoples. Such an understanding could lead to practical benefits, such as the identification of programs that enhance sport opportunities for Indigenous youth.

Confidentiality and Storage of Data: The following steps will be taken to protect your identity and the privacy of the experiences you share in the sharing circle. Names or other identifying markers will not be discussed outside of your talking circle or one-on-one interviews. Pseudonyms (made up names) will be used instead of real names in all study reports, presentations, and/or newsletters. Transcripts and consent forms will be kept and stored in a locked filing cabinet in my office for 5 years following the publication of the final reports, and then they will be shredded. Audio files and digital copies of transcripts will be stored on a password protected computer in my office, and permanently deleted after 5 years.

There are, however, limits on the level of confidentiality that researchers can ensure. Because you will take part in a group interview (i.e., talking circle) with other participants, you will be identifiable to other people in the group on the basis of what you have said. The researcher will be sure to safeguard the confidentiality of the group discussion, but cannot guarantee that other members of the group will do so. Please respect the confidentiality of the other members of the group by not disclosing the contents of discussions outside the group, and be aware that others may not respect your confidentiality.

Right to Withdraw: You have the right to refuse to answer any question in the talking circle or one-on-one interview, at which time the discussion will be redirected. As well, participation in this study is voluntary and you may withdraw from the study for any reason, without penalty of any sort, including current or future participation in this or any other program. You will have 30 days from the date of the sharing circle to have any information you shared removed from the study.

Questions: If you have any questions concerning the study, please feel free to ask at any point. The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615. As well, any questions you may have about this study may be directed to Tara-Leigh McHugh at telephone number (780) 492-3907.

Consent to Participate: I have read and understood the description provided above; I have been provided with an opportunity to ask questions and my questions have been answered. I consent to participate in the study described above, understanding that I may withdraw this consent at any time. A copy of this consent form has been given to me for my records.

Participant's Name	Participant's Signature	Date
Researcher's Name	Researcher's Signature	Date

APPENDIX C

Interview Guide

Semi-Structured Interview Guide

Introductions: Introduce yourself and tell me about the types of physical activities (e.g., sport, recreation) in which you participate or have participated in, in the past?

- 1. What are the reasons you participate in such physical activities?
 - a. Prompt: what are some facilitators and barriers to participating?

- 2. Tell me what you know about the term "physical literacy"?
 - a. Prompt: If have heard of term, ask specifics about what this term means
 - i. how has this term been defined to you?
 - b. Prompt: If have not heard of the term, ask if they could speculate what the term might mean.
- 3. Given this discussion, how would you define physical literacy to someone who had never heard of the term before?
- 4. What role does physical literacy play in the lives of Indigenous youth?
- 5. The International Physical Literacy Association defined physical literacy as the "motivation, confidence, physical competence, knowledge and understanding to value and take responsibility for engagement in physical activities for life."
 - a. Tell me what you think about this definition.
 - i. What aspects of this definition of physical literacy do you think are most important to you? What aspects are least important?
 - ii. How is this term relevant (or not relevant) to yourself, and perhaps the Indigenous youth you work with?
 - b. Why do you think the Association highlighted the importance of "valuing" and "taking responsibility" for engaging in physical activity?
 - c. What do you think is meant by the *motivation* to engage in physical activities for life?
 - i. Why is this important (or not)?
 - ii. How might such motivation be facilitated among Indigenous youth?
 - d. What do you think is meant by the *confidence* to engage in physical activities for life?
 - i. Why is this important (or not)?
 - ii. How might such confidence be facilitated among Indigenous youth?
 - e. What do you think is meant by the *physical competence* to engage in physical activities for life?
 - i. Why is this important (or not)?

- ii. How might such physical competence be facilitated among Indigenous youth?
- f. What do you think is meant by the knowledge and understanding to engage in physical activities for life?
 - i. Why is this important (or not)?
 - ii. How might such knowledge and understanding be facilitated among Indigenous youth?
- 6. What, if anything, do you think is missing from the definition of physical literacy?
 - a. Prompt: How would you modify (what would you add, subtract, delete) physical literacy to better represent your meaning of physical literacy?
- 7. The importance of promoting physical literacy has been outlined in a number of provincial and federal sport programs and policies.
 - a. Prompt: What are your thoughts on this?
 - i. What are your thoughts on the Association's definition being the one used?
- 8. What does your own physical literacy journey, or experience, look like?
 - a. Prompt: how would you describe your reasons for being, or not being, active throughout your life so far
- 9. What is your experience teaching physical literacy to youth?
 - a. Prompt: perhaps this isn't in the traditional classroom sense, maybe this is something you do to engage your own children or nieces/nephews in an active lifestyle
 - b. Prompt: what do you think the strengths and weaknesses are of promoting physical literacy among Indigenous youth?
- 10. How has your understandings of physical literacy changed (if at all) since discussing it today in this room?